Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 (Human Histone Deacetylase 8) in HeLa cells.

Thesis Submitted for the degree of **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY** 

By G.R.Vanaja



Department of Animal Biology School of Life Sciences University of Hyderabad Hyderabad, 500046, India.

September, 2017

**Enrollment No. 12LAPH05** 



## CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the thesis entitled **"Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells."** submitted by **G.R.Vanaja** bearing registration number **12LAPH05** in complete fulfilment of the requirements for award of Doctor of philosophy in the **School of Life Sciences** is a bonafide work carried out by her under my supervision and guidance.

This thesis is free from plagiarism and has not been submitted previously in part or in full to this or any other University or Institution for award of any degree or diploma.

A. Published in the following publication:

**1.** Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine (JAIM). Accepted 2017 Mar, EPUB Ahead **International** 

2. Bio organic and medicinal chemistry letters 22 (2012) 4418-4427 - International

- B. Presented in the following conferences
- 1. 85<sup>th</sup> Annual meeting of society of biological chemists (India), SBCI Best Poster Award (International).
- **2.** International Conference on Genome Architecture and Cell Fate Regulation GACFR (International).
- 3. Bioquest 2016 Best poster Award (Science fest of School of Life Sciences).

Further, the student has passed the following courses towards fulfillment of coursework requirement for Ph.D

Course Code	Name	Credits	Pass/Fail
1. AS 801	Seminar 1	1	PASS
2. AS 802	Research Ethics & Management	2	PASS
3. AS 803	Biostatistics	2	PASS
4. AS 804	Analytical Techniques	3	PASS
5. AS 805	Lab Work	4	PASS

**Supervisor** 

Head of Department



## **UNIVERSITY OF HYDERABAD**

Central University (P.O.), Hyderabad-500046, INDIA

## DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the results of the study incorporated in the thesis entitled **"Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells."** has been carried out by me under the supervision of **Dr. Aruna Sree M.K** and this work has not been submitted for any degree or diploma of any other university earlier.

Dated

G.R. Vanaja

**12LAPH05** 

(Research Scholar)

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. M.K. Aruna Sree for giving me opportunity to work in her lab. I sincerely thank for her continuous guidance, meticulous suggestions, enthusiastic discussions and inexhaustible patience during my tenure. Although the journey was not so easy, her unreserved thoughts have made my way comfortable. I am indebtful for her humble nature and would like to thank for her extensive moral and professional support throughout my tenure.

My heartfelt thanks to Prof.Reddanna for believing my capabilities and considering me as a senior research fellow in NMPB project, and extending his unconditional moral support during my tenure in his lab. And I also thank for allowing me to use the lab facilities for completing my Ph.D.

I thank my doctoral committee members Prof. S.Rajagopal and Dr. K. Sreenivasulu for their critical and valuable suggestions throughout my Ph.D tenure.

My sincere thanks to Head Dept. of Animal Biology Prof. Jagan pongubala, and former Heads Prof. Senthilkumaran and Prof. Manjula Sritharan for supporting me with department facilities.

Special thanks to Prof. P. Reddanna, Dean of School of life sciences for supporting my work with school facilities.

I am extremely thankful to Genomics facility (DBT-CREBB) and Proteomics facility (DBT-CREBB), Confocal and FACS facility of School of life sciences.

I take extreme privilege to thank all the faculty of School of Life sciences for sharing their thoughts and knowledge during my course work.

I would like to thank the non-teaching staff of the Department Mr.Jagan, Mr.Gopi, Mr.Srinu, Mrs. Jyothi and Mr. Murthy for their timely support. My special thanks to all my batch mates of 2012-2013 who made my stay comfortable with their presence and constant support especially Arshad, Raja ram azad, Reetika, Venu madhav kusuma.

I would like to extend my warm thanks to my lab mates, Madhavi, Shanmukha, Y.N.G. Varma, Githa vani, Sunil, Dr.Gangadhar, Ravindar, Azad, Dr. Naresh kumar, Dr. Geetika gupta, Dr. Kumar, Praveen, Prathiba, Ajay, Sai keerthana, Pavan, Arpita, Shikha, who were quite encouraging and supportive.

My sincere thanks to K. Bangaraiah for his lab assistance in maintaining my work flow without any obstacles.

I feel grateful in thanking some special persons, whose presence and support have helped me to shape my career in a right way. Dr. Kiranam Chatti a wonderful guide I have ever come across. I thank him for teaching me even in that shortest tenure of my initial days as a research trainee. I thank Dr. Kirmani natukula for his unbound nature of teaching, helping, guiding, supporting etc., I also take the opportunity to thank Dr. Krishnaveni for her constant professional support and equally sharing my personal issues.

My heartfelt thanks to my special list of friends whose support meant a lot for completing my Ph.D, Srinadh, Teja sudha, Keerthana, Swetha, Suresh, Yakub, Spandhana, Dhanraman, Sandhya.

This journey would not have been so easy without my parents. I extend my heartfelt thanks to my father G.Ramuloo for struggling to bring me to this position; I thank from bottom of my heart for his constant support in every turn of my life. His inspiration made me to reach this level and achieve my passion. I have learnt the real meaning for word "patience" from my mother G.R. Lakshmi; I thank her for being supportive in all my good and bad times.



My special thanks to my sister Dr. G.R. Hemalatha Nathi for supporting me with her bioinformatics expertise in resolving major questions of my work. I also thank her for being my inspiration and making me strong at every point of my life.

I take special privilege to acknowledge my in laws for giving their constant unreserved support in completing my work. It wouldn't have been so easy task for me to tackle my little one and work at a stretch. Sharing equality with my parents they have considered me as their child and encouraged me with their exceptional moral support. I thank my father in law I. Modayya and mother in law I. Krishna kumari with due respect.

My exceptional acknowledgements to a special person, who is my friend, philosopher, teacher and a responsible husband. Words fall short in describing your enormous support u gave me, right from my initial days of research. I thank you for your unmatching and extraordinary care, with which I have achieved one of my dream. Though the battle was not easy, u made it quite comfortable with your everlasting patience and smile and taught me many things throughout the journey. Thank you for being my side and being my teacher and I wish to learn many in future: Dr. I. Vamshi Krishna.

My world has changed after arrival of my little angel Trishika Krishna.I. I thank almighty for showering me with his blessings in her form and making my life wonderful. I thank her for teaching me patience and smiling in every tough situation.

Financial support from UGC-RGNF is greatly acknowledged.

Finally I would like to thank Almighty for giving healthier and happier life.

G.R. Vanaja



## Dedicated

To all the great teachers who taught me ....

To my ever loving parents & in laws for their untiring support

throughout....



## ABSTRACT

Although HDAC8 is best understood structurally, its precise subcellular location, function, protein partners and substrates still remain elusive. Here, we show that HDAC8 and its phosphorylated form (pHDAC8) localized predominantly in the cytoplasm in cancerous, HeLa, and normal, HEK293T, cells, although nucleolar localization was observed in HeLa cells. Immunoprecipitation (IP) studies followed by MALDI-TOF analysis identified Alpha tubulin as a novel interacting partner of HDAC8. Further, in-silico protein-protein interaction studies, IP and Co-IP experiments, intrinsic fluorescence spectrophotometric analysis, Circular dichroism (CD) and Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) studies clearly indicated binding of ac-lys40 tubulin to HDAC8. HPLC-based in vitro deacetylation and specific small molecule inhibitor studies demonstrated the deacetylation of acetylated (Lys40 residue of Alpha tubulin. These in silico results were further confirmed by IP and Co-IP experiments which indicated alpha tubulin by HDAC8. Differential tissue specific expression of HDAC8 and HDAC6 in various cancer cell lines, followed by expression, activity studies of HDAC8 and HDAC6 (an established tubulin deacetylase) by real time PCR, immunoblot and HDAC enzyme activity in HeLa and HEK 293T demonstrated significant upregulation of HDAC8 in HeLa cells compared to HDAC6. These results suggest the role of HDAC8 as a primary tubulin deacetylase in HeLa when compared to HDAC6. Further, Knockdown by HDAC8 siRNA or inhibition studies clearly explains ac-alpha tubulin as its potential substrate for deacetylation. Functional significance of this interaction was demonstrated by cell-migration, cell morphology and cell cycle analysis which suggested the role of HDAC8 as tubulin deacetylase. These findings have paved a path towards studying and understanding the molecular regulation of tubulin by HDAC8 in cervical cancer.

## CONTENTS

## Page No.

Abbreviationsvi-xi
List of figures and tablesxii-xvi
1. Epigenetics1
1.1 DNA Methylation1-2
1.2 Chromatin Remodeling3-4
1.3 Histone Modifications4-6
1.3.1 Histone Code Hypothesis6
1.3.2 Histone Methylation7
1.3.3 Histone Phosphorylation7
1.3.4 Histone Acetylation8
1.3.5 Histone Acetyl transferases (HATs)8-9
1.3.6 Histone Deacetylases (HDACs)9-10
1.3.7 Histone Deacetylases (HDACs) Classification10-12
1.4 HDACs and Cancer14-15
1.5 HDAC Inhibitors (HDACi)15-17
1.6 Histone Deacetylase 8 (HDAC8)17-19
1.7 HDAC8 and Cancer
1.8 HDAC8 and other diseases
1.9 Known Inhibitors of HDAC822-26
2.0 Rationale of the study26

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

2.1 Mat	erials	:	27
2.2 Met	hods		
2.2.1	Cell culture and treatments	:	27
2.2.2	Immunofluorescence	:	28
2.2.3	HDAC8 enzyme activity assay	:	28
2.2.4	Protein expression studies/ Western blotting	:	29
2.2.5	Immunoprecipitation and MALDI TOF-TOF analysis	:	29
2.2.6	Sequence analysis	:	30
2.2.7	Phylogenetic tree analysis of Alpha tubulin	:	30
2.2.8	Homology Modelling	:	31
2.2.9	Protein-Protein interactions using ZDOCK	:	32
2.2.10	Co-Immunoprecipitation and Immunoblotting	:	32
2.2.11	hHDAC8 clone (construct p <sup>GEX</sup> - 6p1 hHDAC8) and expression of GST-HDAC8 fusion protein	:	33
2.2.12	Purification of GST - hHDAC8	:	34
2.2.13	Surface plasmon resonance studies	:	34
2.2.14	Fluorescence spectrometry	:	35
2.2.15	Circular Dichroism spectroscopy studies	:	35
2.2.16	HPLC studies	:	36
2.2.17	siRNA studies	:	36

2.2.18	Real time analysis	:	:	37
2.2.19	Cell migration assay	:	•	37
2.2.20	Cell morphology analysis	:	:	38
2.2.21	Cell cycle analysis	:	:	38

## **RESULTS & DISCUSSION**

**3.** Objective 1: Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.

3.1 HDAC8 is localized predominantly to Cytoplasm

3.2 Alpha tubulin is a non-histone substrate of HDAC8

3.3 HDAC8 co-precipitates with Alpha tubulin

**3.4** Objective **2:** Protein-protein interaction studies of HDAC8 & Acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin.

3.5 In silico

3.5.1 Lys40 of Alpha tubulin interacts specifically with Pro205 of HDAC8

3.5.2 Generated 3D structure of Alpha tubulin by homology modelling

3.5.3 Alpha tubulin is conserved in different groups of eukaryotes

3.5.4 Lys40 of Alpha tubulin a conserved residue, interacts with HDAC8

#### 3.6 In vitro

3.6.1 Cloned, expressed and purified active hHDAC8 from bacterial system

**3.6.2** Both acetylated and unacetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin binds with GST-HDAC8 -Surface plasmon resonance studies

3.6.3 Binding of ac-alpha tubulin to HDAC8 decreases intrinsic fluorescence

**3.6.4** Circular Dichroism studies – Binding of ac-alpha tubulin peptide (Lys40) with GST-HDAC8 leads to conformational changes in the secondary structure of GST-HDAC8.

3.6.5 HDAC8 co-localizes with acetylated alpha tubulin in HeLa and HEK 293T

3.6.6 HDAC8 inhibition increases acetylation of alpha tubulin *in vitro*:

3.6.7 GST-HDAC8 deacetylates ac-alpha tubulin in vitro: HPLC studies

3.6.8 HDAC8 might be primary tubulin deacetylase in HeLa cells

3.7 Objective 3: Functional characterization studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin interactions *in vitro*.

3.7.1 HDAC8 alters Alpha tubulin functionality

3.7.2 Inhibition of HDAC8 affects the cytoskeletal machinery

3.7.3 HDAC8 inhibition specifically altered mitotic phase in HeLa

## 4.0 Summary

4.1 Objective 1: Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.

4.2 Objective 2: Protein-protein interaction studies of HDAC8 & Acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin.

4.3 Objective 3: Functional characterization studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin interactions *in vitro*.

## **5.0 Conclusions**

## **ABBREVATIONS**

µl: Microliter

µg: Microgram

µM: Micro molar

A549: Human lung carcinoma

ac: Acetylated

ADD3: Adducin 3

AML: Acute myeloid leukemia

ARID1A: AT-Rich Interaction Domain 1A

ATL: Acute T cell Leukemia

BMF: Bcl2 Modifying Factor

CAPRI: Critical Assessment of Predicted Interactions

CD: Circular Dichroism

CdLs: Cornelia de Lange Syndrome

CHCHD3: Coiled coil Helix Coiled Coil Helix Domain Containing 3

ChIp: Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

Co-Ip: Co-Immunoprecipitation

CPNE3: Copine 3

CREB: cAMP Responsive Element Binding Factor

CTCF: CCCTC-binding factor

CTCL: Cutaneous T-cell lymphoma

DAPI: 4', 6 - Diamidino-2-Phenylindole

DEC1: Differentiated embryo-chondrocyte expressed gene 1

DNA: Deoxy ribonucleic acid

DTT: Dithiothreitol

EDTA: Ethylene Diamine Tetra acetic Acid

ERRa: Estrogen Related Receptor Alpha

GAPDH: Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase

GNATs - Gcn5 (general control non-derepressible 5)-related N-acetyltransferases

H2A: Histone 2A

H2B: Histone 2B

H3: Histone 3

H4: Histone4

HATs: Histone acetyl transferases

HDAC8: Histone deacetylase 8

HDACi: Histone deacetylase inhibitors

HDACs: Histone deacetylases

HEK 293T: Human Embryonic Kidney epithelial cells

HeLa: (Henrietta lacks) Human cervical cancer cells

hEST1B: Human Ever Shorter Telomerase 1 B

HMTs: Histone methyl transferases

Hr: Hours

Hsp70: Heat Shock Protein 70

Hsp90: Heat Shock Protein 90

HuT78: Human T cell lymphoma with Sezary Syndrome

Inv (16): Inversion (16)

JAK2/STAT: Janus kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription

Jurkat: Immortalized human T-Cell lymphocyte cells

KDACs: Lysine deacetylases

Lhx1: LIM Homeobox Protein 1

#### M: Molar

## MALDI TOF-TOF: Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization

MCF-7: Human breast adenocarcinoma

MDM1: Mitochondrial Distribution and Morphology

Min: Minutes

ml: Milliliter

mM: Millimolar

MMP-9: Matrix metallopeptidase 9

Molt4: Human acute lymphoblastic lymphoma

MTT: [3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide]

NAD: Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide

NAD<sup>+</sup>: Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Reduced Form

NCOA3: Nuclear Receptor Co-Activator 3

OTX1: Orthodenticle Homeobox 1

p<sup>53</sup>: Tumor Protein 53.

PBS: Phosphate Buffered Saline

PCR: Polymerase Chain Reaction

PKA: Protein Kinase A

PKG: Protein Kinase G

PMSF: Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride

PP1: Protein Phosphatase 1

PRMTs: Protein arginine methyl transferases

PTCL: Pripheral T cell lymphoma

RAI1: Retinoic Acid Induced Protein 1

RKO: Human colon carcinoma

**RMSD:** Root Mean Square Deviation

RNA pol II: Ribonucleic acid Polymerase II

RNA: Ribonucleic acid

RT: Real time

SAHA: Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid

SCOs1: Suppressor of Cytokine Signalling 1

siRNA: Short Interfering RNA

SIRT1: Silent Mating Type Information Regulation 2 homolog 1

SMC1A: Structural Maintenance of Chromosome 1A

SMC3: Structural Maintenance of Chromosome 3 Protein

SOX4: Sex Determining Region – Y – Box 4 Transcription Factor

SPR: Surface Plasmon Resonance

STAG2: Stromal Antigen 2

SVIL: Supervillin

TDP-A: Thailandepsin A

THRAP3: Thyroid Hormone Receptor Associated Protein 3

TPM3: Tropomycin 3 Protein

TSA: Trichostatin A

U87: Human Glioblastoma cell line

Unac: Unacetylated

ZRANB2: Zinc Finger RANB2 Type containing 2 Protein

ZSCAN2: Zinc Finger and SCAN Domain Containing 2



## **List of Figures**

Introduction		Pg No.
Figure 1. Epigenetics mechanisms	:	2
Figure 2. Dynamic regulation of transcription in presence of chromatin	:	4
remodeling complexes		
Figure 3. Schematic representation of nucleosome structural organization along	:	5
with histone proteins		
Figure 4. Potential histone modifications	:	6
Figure 5. Schematic representation of functional role of Histone	:	9
acetylation/deacetylation		
Figure 6. Mammalian HDACs classification	:	12
Figure 7. Schematic representation of physiological and pathological functions	:	13
of HDACs on histone and non-histone substrates		
Figure 8. HDAC Inhibitors:	:	17
Figure 9. Crystal structure of HDAC8		18
Figure 10. HDAC8 Substrates – Histone & Non-histone	:	19
Figure 11. HDAC8 is associated with different protein complexes involved in	:	21
cancer		
Figure 12. Known specific HDAC8 Inhibitors	:	23
Figure 13. Structure of PCI-34051	:	24
Figure 14. Inhibitors co-crystalized with HDAC8	:	25

## **Objective 1: Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.**

Figure 15. HDAC8 is predominantly cytoplasmic in localization	:	40
Figure 16. Phospho HDAC8 is majorly cytoplasmic in localization	:	42
Figure 17. HDAC8 protein expression levels in HeLa and HEK 293T	:	43
Figure 18. HDAC8 enzyme activity assay	:	44
Figure 19. HDAC8 enzyme activity assay with Forskolin (10 $\mu$ M) treated	:	45
condition		
Figure 20. Immunoprecipitation studies of HDAC8 with HeLa cell lysate	:	47
Figure 21. Alpha tubulin as one of the non-histone interacting partner of	:	48
HDAC8		
Figure 22. IP & Co-IP confirms HDAC8 & Alpha tubulin	:	50

# **Objective 2: Protein-protein interaction studies of HDAC8 & Acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin.**

Figure 23. Clustal omega sequence alignment of alpha, beta and gamma tubulins	•	52
Figure 24. Sequence Analysis of Alpha tubulin in some eukaryotes	:	53
Figure 25. Functional conserved domain analysis of alpha, beta & gamma tubulin	:	55
with Pfam database		
Figure 26. Phylogenetic tree analysis of Alpha tubulin using PhyML v. 3.0	:	57
Figure 27.Homology modelling of alpha tubulin	:	58
Figure 28. Ramachandran plot	:	59-60
Figure 29. Structural validation by ERRAT	:	61

Figure 30. Protein protein interaction studies of HDAC8 with Alpha, Beta and	:	63
Gamma tubulins		
Figure 31. Cloning of hHDAC8 into pGEX-6p1 plasmid	:	66
Figure 32. Expression and purification of active hHDAC8 from bacterial system	•	67
Figure 33. Enzyme activity assay for hHDAC8 purified from bacterial system	•	68
Figure 34. Binding studies of GST-HDAC8 and alpha tubulin peptides by SPR	:	70-71
Figure 35. Binding studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin peptides (ac & Unac	:	75
forms)		
Figure 36. Secondary structure conformational change of GST-HDAC8 upon	:	77
binding with ac-alpha tubulin		
Figure 37. HDAC8 interacts with ac-alpha tubulin	:	78
Figure 38. HDAC8 co-localizes with ac-alpha tubulin in HeLa cells	:	79
Figure 39. HDAC8 co-localizes with ac-alpha tubulin in HEK 293T cells	:	79
Figure 40. HDAC8 regulates ac-alpha tubulin levels in vitro	:	80-81
Figure 41. HDAC8 deacetylates ac-alpha tubulin in vitro	:	83
Figure 42. HDAC8 & HDAC6 expression studies in different cancer cell lines	:	85
Figure 43. HDAC8 & HDAC6 expression studies in HeLa & HEK 293T cells:	:	86-87
Figure 44. HDAC8 is the primary tubulin deacetylase in HeLa	:	89
Figure 45. siRNA knockdown of HDAC8 increases ac-alpha tubulin levels:	:	90-91
Figure 46. HDAC8 and HDAC6 does not co-precipitate with each other	:	91



**Objective 3: Functional characterization studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin interactions** *in vitro*.

Figure 47. HDAC8 inhibition affects cell migration in HeLa	:	93
Figure 48. HDAC8 inhibition affects cell morphology in HeLa and HEK 293T:	:	95
Figure 49. Effect of HDAC8 Inhibition on functional role of Alpha tubulin	:	97
during M-phase of cell cycle in HeLa cells:		
Figure 50. Inhibition of HDAC8 in HEK 293T Inhibition on functional role of	•	98
Alpha tubulin during M-phase of cell cycle in HEK 293T		
Figure 51. Diagrammatic representation of overall summary	:	103



## **List of Tables**

			Pg No.
Table 1	List of proteins identified from MALDI TOF TOF analysis	:	49
Table 2	ZDOCK score for alpha, beta and gamma tubulins interactions with	:	64
	HDAC8		
Table 3	Binding details of GST-HDAC8 in FC-1 region of CM5 chip	:	72
Table 4	Binding details of GST-HDAC8 in FC-2 region of CM5 chip	:	73
Table 5	Stability details of GST-HDAC8 in FC-2 region of CM5 chip	:	73
Table 6	Binding details of Unac & ac- alpha tubulin peptides with immobilized	:	73
	GST-HDAC8		

4

## 1. Epigenetics

The genetic material in eukaryotes is embedded in a structure known as nucleus. This genetic material, DNA, is generally transferred to the offspring, by either undergoing some external modifications on it, or by addition or deletion of DNA sequence, which are heritable. The phenomenon of heritable changes in gene expression, which occur on DNA without changing its genetic makeup, thereby causing a phenotypic change without affecting the genotype, is termed as Epigenetics. Thus, study of epigenetics does not involve with changes of basic DNA, but only with the external additions (which involve post-translational modifications) to either DNA, or DNA associated proteins like histones or even the whole chromatin structure. The effect of these modifications may either last for some cell divisions or even continue for many generations without affecting the basic DNA sequence of the organism (Bird 2007). This condition may arise due to either from hereditary, external environmental/chemicals conditions, or due to other factors like aging, diet etc., These modifications generally include, DNA methylation, chromatin remodeling and histone modifications (**Fig. 1**).

## **1.1 DNA Methylation**

DNA is subjected to numerous epigenetic alterations in the cells, among which histone modifications and methylation of DNA are widely studied (Baylin and Herman 2000; Strahl and Allis 2000; Tessarz and Kouzarides 2014). Methylation of DNA is a covalent modification which involves in addition of methyl group to the cytosine of CpG dinucleotides (Baylin and Herman 2000). This addition can cause an imbalance in gene expression there by leading to either expression or repression of genes. A special class of enzymes, known as DNA methyltransferases



(DNMTs) control the addition of methyl group. The source of the methyl groups can be either from dietary sources or through chemicals (**Fig. 1**). The maintenance of the methylation patterns is controlled by three DNMTs, which include DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b) (Weinhold 2006). Out of these three DNMTs, DNMT1 is responsible for maintaining methylation pattern of already established pattern. DNMT3a and 3b are continuously involved in *de novo* DNA methylation.



Figure 1. Epigenetics mechanisms: Leading factors responsible for epigenetics along with various modifications responsible for the outcome i.e., DNA methylation, histone modifications. (Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Epigenetics)

### **1.2 Chromatin Remodeling**

Apart from DNA methylation, chromatin remodeling is considered as another dynamic modification, which involves changes in the gene regulation by providing access to the transcription machinery to alter the chromatin architecture. These changes are triggered by covalent modifications of histones (acetyltransferase's, methyltransferase's, kinases etc.,) or by ATP-dependent remodeling complexes which will ultimately alter the chromatin structure (Teif and Rippe 2009)

Covalent modifications of chromatin are regulated by special group of enzymes known as histone modifying complexes. These enzymatic modifications lead to methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation, ubiquitination etc., on histone N-terminal tails, which are brought about by histone methyltransferases (HMTs), histone acetyltransferases (HATs), kinases etc., These alterations affect the binding affinity of DNA to that of histone proteins, thereby leading to condensed or relaxed chromatin (Wang, Allis et al. 2007). Nucleosome histones are also subjected to numerous post-translational modifications. These include diverse range of events of methylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, ribosylation, citrullination, sumoylation etc. (Strahl and Allis 2000; Kouzarides 2007; Latham and Dent 2007).

The changes occurring in the nucleosome complexes such as, moving, ejecting or restricting are governed by special group of ATP dependent chromatin remodeling enzymes. These proteins poses ATP domain, the energy generated from this ATP hydrolysis favors to relocate the nucleosome complexes from the DNA, or even by expelling the nucleosomes leading to exposure

of naked DNA and facilitating the gene transcription (Wang, Allis et al. 2007). Five families, SWI/SNSF, ISWI, NuRD/mi-2/CHD, ino80 and SWR1, of chromatin remodelers have been identified till date in eukaryotes using yeast as the model organism. Among the five families, the two remodelers, SWI/SNSF and NuRD/mi-2/CHD, are very well studied so far, (Eisen, Sweder et al. 1995). Thus, both histone modifications and ATP dependent complexes dynamically regulates the gene expression, by controlling the access to RNA pol II (**Fig.2**).



Figure 2. Dynamic regulation of transcription in presence of chromatin remodeling complexes: Covalent histone modifications (HATs) and ATP dependent chromatin complexes assure transcription by recruiting RNA pol II. Gene repression occurs with HDACs (histone deacetylases) activity. Adapted from Cancer Biol Ther (2003).

## **1.3 Histone Modifications**

DNA is wrapped around a core of eight histones to form nucleosomes. Nucleosomes, the building blocks of chromatin, consist of 146 base pairs of DNA, which is wrapped around a core

made of histone octamer consisting of two copies of H2A, H2B, H3 & H4 (**Fig. 3**). Histone H1, considered as linker histone, is involved in linking two neighboring nucleosomes. Structural composition of each histone core protein includes a C-terminal globular domain (70-90 residues) and an N-terminal tail (20-30 residues) (Luger, Mader et al. 1997). Accessibility of RNA polymerase II (Pol II) to DNA and gene expression depends on the disassembly of nucleosomes. Whereas, upon reassembling of nucleosome units it leads to the restricted accessibility, thus resulting in gene repression.



Figure 3. Schematic representation of nucleosome structural organization along with histone proteins: Octamer of histones H2A, H2B, and two tetramers H3 & H4 forms nucleosome unit (146 bp of DNA). Two units of nucleosomes are connected with linker DNA and H1 histone.

https://www.researchgate.net/figure/263097109\_fig2\_Schematic-representation-of-the-nucleosome-andmammalian-core-histone-modifications-A

Dynamic regulation of these chromatin modifications, including chaperones and remodelers of histones are known to modulate the transcription (Venkatesh and Workman 2015). The amino-terminal tails of histones protrude out of the nucleosomes which are constantly subjected to several post-translational modifications. Most studied post-translational modifications in mammals particularly in humans include methylation, acetylation and phosphorylation etc.,(Ropero and Esteller 2007) (**Fig 4**). Many of these modifications are known to modify the chromatin structure, correlating with gene expression levels.



Figure 4. Potential histone modifications: Addition of different chemical groups to N-terminal tails of histones alters the gene function. Modifications include Ac-acetylation, Me-Methylation, Ub-Ubiquitination, Su-Sumoylation, P-Phosphorylation

http://www.integratedhealthcare.eu/1/en/histones\_and\_chromatin/1497

#### **1.3.1 Histone Code Hypothesis**

Histone modifications work as a scaffold for recruiting other proteins, by interacting with the specially modified regions either of their tails or globular domain regions along with their interactions with DNA. This in turn will affect the structural integrity of the chromatin, either helping in positive or negative regulation of various genes (Jenuwein and Allis 2001).

### **1.3.2 Histone Methylation**

Histone methylation is considered as a covalent modification involving in addition of one, two or three methyl groups from S-adenosyl-L-methionine to histone proteins by histone methyltransferases (HMTs). DNA methylation is controlled through chromatin dependent transcriptional regulation. Thus, histone methylation is known to regulate the complex formed with DNA and thereby, affecting the activation or silencing of specific genes (Greer and Shi 2012). In mammalian system three known DNA methyltransferases are identified which include, DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B. A recent addition to this list include DNMT2, which is not considered as a methyltransferase (Rountree, Bachman et al. 2001).

#### **1.3.3 Histone Phosphorylation**

Histone phosphorylation is the best studied modification which is known to regulate the cellular homeostasis and other regulatory functions of the cell. Phosphorylation of histones occurs during response of a cell to DNA damage. Extensive studies of histone phosphorylation demonstrate its key role in chromatin remodeling which are linked to transcriptional regulation (Rossetto, Avvakumov et al. 2012).

#### **1.3.4 Histone Acetylation**

Acetylation of lysine residues on proteins is a reversible post translational modification (Yang and Seto 2008), which is known to affect the protein-protein interaction, protein–DNA interactions and protein stability. Much focus on acetylation of lysine residues was drawn by the post-translational modifications of the histone proteins, which are known to regulate accessibility of DNA to cellular machinery that in turn, bring out altered protein profiles. Till date over, 3,600 acetylation sites have been discovered in mammalian proteins (Khoury, Baliban et al. 2011), some of which play a vital role in various metabolic activities including gluconeogenesis and DNA damage repair (Choudhary, Kumar et al. 2009; Zhao, Xu et al. 2010). Not surprisingly these aberrant modifications of both histone and non-histone proteins can mount a dramatic proteome variations which can lead to either emergence of a new disease or can even synergize the effects of existing diseases(Drummond, Noble et al. 2005; Haberland, Montgomery et al. 2009).

#### **1.3.5 Histone Acetyl transferases (HATs)**

Histone acetyl transferases (HATs) are responsible for addition of acetyl groups to  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of lysine side chains from acetyl-CoA as a coenzyme to histone tails/non-histone proteins, resulting in more relaxed chromatin and gene transcription activation. Histone acetylation is known to reduce positive charge of histones, and this potentially disrupts the electrostatic interactions between DNA and histones (**Fig. 5**). This in turn affects the chromatin structure, allowing the DNA accessibility to transcriptional machinery (Sun, Zhou et al. 2012). Histone acetylation has been associated with other genome functions such as chromatin assembly, DNA repair, and recombination (Polo and Almouzni 2005). HATs can be put into two broad categories based on their subcellular localization. Type A-HATs are associated with addition of acetyl groups to histone proteins, whereas, type B-HATs are involved with cytoplasmic proteins and newly translated histones (Richman, Chicoine et al. 1988).

Based on their structural and functional similarity with the catalytic domain regions there are 30 HATs classified into three major groups. GNATs – Gcn5 (general control non-derepressible 5)-related N-acetyltransferases, MYST HATs, well characterized by presence of MYST domain containing an acetyl-CoA and a zinc finger motif (Avvakumov and Cote 2007) and E1A-associated protein of 300 kDa p300/CREB (cAMP-responsive element binding protein) – binding protein (CBP) (Allis, Berger et al. 2007; Lee and Workman 2007).

#### **1.3.6 Histone Deacetylases (HDACs)**

Removal of the acetyl group from histones and other proteins is catalyzed by special group of enzymes known as histone deacetylases (HDACs). Deacetylation leads to condensation of chromatin, leading to gene repression (**Fig. 5**).



*Figure 5. Schematic representation of functional role of Histone acetylation/deacetylation: Figure illustrates the dynamic states of acetylation/deacetylation of histone proteins regulated by HATs and HDAC enzymes. Addition of acetyl groups to the lysine residues of histone tails allows gene transcription. HDACs remove the acetyl groups leaving condensed chromatin and allowing gene repression. Adapted from The Biochemical Journal. (2003).* 

Deacetylation occurs through a charge relay system consisting of two adjacent histidine residues, two aspartic acid residues (located approximately 30 residues away from histidine and are separated by approximately 6 amino acids), and one tyrosine residue (located approximately 123 amino acids downstream to aspartic acid) (Buggy *et. al.*,2000 and Finnin *et. al.*,1999). Zn<sup>2+</sup> ion is one of the essential components of the charge-relay system; it is bound to the zinc binding site on the bottom of the pocket. This results in more condensed chromatin state and transcriptional gene silencing (Johnstone 2002; Iizuka and Smith 2003). Thus, a critical balance has to be maintained between acetyl transferases and deacetylases. "HDACs are now also called as lysine deacetylases (KDACs)".

HDACs, as the name suggests, have histones as their predominant substrate. However, many HDACs are at least partially cytoplasmic, and there are evidences that some of these HDACs can act on non-histone substrates, including tubulin and p53. The non-histone targets of histone deacetylases include transcription factors, transcription regulators, signal transduction mediators, DNA repair enzymes, nuclear import regulators, chaperone proteins, structural proteins, inflammation mediators and viral proteins (Glozak *et al.*, 2005; Marks and Dokmanovic, 2005; Rosato and Grant, 2005;Bolden *et al.*, 2006; Minucci and Pelicci, 2006; Zhao *et al.*, 2006). **1.3.7 Histone Deacetylases (HDACs) Classification** 

Eighteen different mammalian HDACs are been identified till date (Bhalla 2005) (Blander and Guarente 2004) (Marks and Dokmanovic 2005). They are further divided into four different classes depending upon the homology they share with yeast HDACs. Class I HDACs comprises of HDAC 1, 2, 3 and 8 and are known to be homologous to yeast Rpd3 in yeast. Class I HDACs are ubiquitously expressed in all human cell lines and tissues and are localized majorly in nucleus (de Ruijter, van Gennip et al. 2003). But recent evidences prove that class I HDACs are also localized to cytoplasm (Longworth and Laimins 2006). According to recent phylogenetic analysis, the class I was suggested to be divided into class Ia (HDAC1 and 2), Ib (HDAC3) and Ic (HDAC8) (Gregoretti, Lee et al. 2004). Class II members of HDACs comprise of HDAC 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 10 which share homology with Hda1 of yeast. Class II members are known to shuttle between nucleus and cytoplasm, regulating various metabolic processes. This particular group is again divided into class IIa (HDAC 4, 5, 7 & 9) and IIb (HDAC 6 and 10) based on the number of catalytic domains (Bhalla 2005; Marks and Dokmanovic 2005) (**Fig. 6**).

Class I and II are zinc dependent enzymes. SIRTUINS (SIRT1-7) come under class III category, which are NAD+ dependent for their enzyme activity and are orthologs of yeast sir2 family of proteins (Blander and Guarente 2004). HDAC 11 is the only member included in class IV category and found to be homologous to both class I and II (**Fig. 6**) (Gao, Cueto et al. 2002).
Class	Isoform	Yeast counterpart	Size	Co- factor	Loca- tion	Expression	Catalytic domain
(I)	HDAC1	RPD3	58	Zn++	N	- Ubiquitous	482 aa
	HDAC2		59		N		488 aa
	HDAC3		50		N, C		428 aa
	HDAC8		44		N		377 aa
(IIa)	HDAC4	HDA1	120	Zn⁺⁺	N, C	- Specific	1084 aa
	HDAC5		130		N, C		1122 aa
	HDAC7		110		N, C		952 aa
	HDAC9		160		N, C		1011 aa
(IIb)	HDAC6	HDA2	160	Zn++	N, C	Specific	1215 aa
	HDAC10		70		N, C		(Inactive) 669 aa
(111)	SIRT1	Sir2	120	NAD+	N	Variable	NAD 747 aa
	SIRT2		45		с		NAD 389 aa
	SIRT3		28		м		NAD 399 aa
	SIRT4		35		м		NAD 314 aa
	SIRT5		36		м		NAD 310 aa
	SIRT6		39		Ν		NAD 355 aa
	SIRT7		48		N		NAD 400 aa
(IV)	HDAC11	RPD3/HDA1	39	Zn++	N	Ubiquitous	347 aa

Figure 6. Mammalian HDACs classification: HDACs are classified into four classes depending upon their homology with yeast counterparts. Class I include HDAC1, 2, 3 & 8, Zn++ dependent. Class II is again subdivided into class IIa, which include HDAC4, 5, 7 & 9. Whereas, HDAC6 & HDAC10 are included in class IIb. Both the subclasses are Zn++ dependent. Classes III is the family exclusively for Sirtuins and are NAD+ dependent. Class IV include HDAC11 and requires Zn++ as a cofactor. Adapted from Trends in microbiology (2013).

HDACs are known to be involved in the critical signaling networks and known to be linked to numerous disease conditions like neurodegenerative disorders, metabolic dysregulation, various cancers, auto immune and inflammatory diseases etc. (Haberland, Montgomery et al. 2009; Tang, Yan et al. 2013). They are known to regulate various physiological and pathophysiological functions of the cell, by regulating diverse range of both histone and non-histone proteins involved in growth, angiogenesis, apoptosis etc., (**Fig. 7**)



Figure 7. Schematic representation of physiological and pathological functions of HDACs on histone and nonhistone substrates: Adapted from Journal of cellular biochemistry (2009).

#### **1.4 HDACs and Cancer**

Many genes are known to be affected during oncogenesis, due to the effect of HATs and HDACs. Numerous studies performed till date on various cancer cell lines using HDAC inhibitors justify the importance of HDACs in regulating the expression of oncogenes (Glozak et al, 2007). One such important gene reported is p21, which is known to be a target for many of pan-HDAC inhibitors, and been repressed by almost all HDACs (Sambucetti et al., 1999). P53 is another tumor suppressor protein which is a direct substrate for many HDACs as validated by both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (Waltregny et al, 2004).

Histone acetylation plays a key role in development of skin cancer, and also in metastasis of gastro intestinal tumors (Fraga et al., 2005) (Yasui et al., 2003). Recent studies of hematological malignancies report that HDACs form complexes with other repressor elements and regulate the normal differentiation and proliferation of myeloid cells. Also, it is identified that aberrant involvement of HDACs with specific promoter regions result in chromosomal translocations like acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) (Lin, Chen et al. 2006).

Altered expression of respective HDACs in various tumors has been reported from many studies. They include, aberrant expression of HDAC1 in gastric cancer (Choi, Kwon et al. 2001), colon (Wilson, Byun et al. 2006), prostrate (Halkidou, Gaughan et al. 2004), and breast carcinoma (Zhang, Yamashita et al. 2005). Whereas, HDAC2 is involved in cervical, gastric and colorectal cancers (Zhu, Martin et al. 2004; Huang, Laban et al. 2005; Song, Noh et al. 2005). Overexpression of HDAC3 and HDAC6 are mostly reported in colon and breast cancers (Zhang, Yamashita et al. 2006).

Recently sirtuins, which are class III HDACs, have been considered as a part of cancer initiation. They are involved in varied cellular functions including regulating genes, DNA repair, stress response, apoptosis, cell cycle, genome stability etc., inferring their efficient role in tracking normal cell growth and proliferation. SIRT1 a very prominent member of the family, is known to regulate some of the important transcription factors like p300, p53, NF-KB, E2F1 etc., by altering the expression of their target genes by acetylation, leading to tumorigeneses (Vaziri, Dessain et al. 2001; Bouras, Fu et al. 2005; Wang, Chen et al. 2006; Ropero and Esteller 2007) Overexpression of HDAC1, 6 and 8 was associated with matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9) which is required for invasion (cell migration) of MCF-7 breast cancer cells (Park, Jun et al. 2011).

#### **1.5 HDAC Inhibitors (HDACi)**

As discussed previously the key role of HDACs in cancer, they are also noted to be involved in various inflammatory, viral and neurological pathology conditions. With the growing importance of HDACs involvement in various diseases, the demand of HDAC inhibitors usage is increased from past decade. These HDAC inhibitors act on a molecular level by hyperacetylation of their substrates histone and non-histone proteins.

The list of FDA approved HDACi includes Vorinostat 1 (for treatment of refractory cutaneous T-cell lymphoma) (CTCL) along with combination therapy with mTOR inhibitor ridaforolimus for treatment of advanced stage of renal cell carcinoma (Zibelman, Wong et al. 2015), romedopsin 2 for treating CTCL and PTCL (peripheral T cell lymphoma), also combination therapy with tyosinekinase inhibitor eriotinib is in phase 1 trials to treat non-small cell lung cancer (VanderMolen, McCulloch et al. 2011) (Gerber, Boothman et al. 2015), belinostat 3, for treating PTCL(West and Johnstone 2014). Panabinostat was in use from early 2015, which was an oral

#### *Introduction* 16

drug approved by FDA, along with bortezomib and dexamethasone combination to treat recurrent multiple myeloma (Garnock-Jones 2015). Valproic acid 5 is often combined with DMTi to improve the efficacy for treating DMT upregulated conditions (Blum, Klisovic et al. 2007). Current phase II trials are ongoing for treating multidrug resistant, chronic myeloid leukemia and AML with entinostat 6 (Valente and Mai 2014). Combination therapy of TSA7 with DNMTi, decitabine is known to increase the prognosis of AML (Momparler, Cote et al. 2014). Pan-HDACi AR-42 is known to reduce myeloma in both in vitro and in vivo (primary myeloma mouse model) (Canella, Cordero Nieves et al. 2015). ACY-1215 9 along with bortezomib combination has an improved efficacy in treating lymphoma when treated on mice model (Amengual, Johannet et al. 2015). Thailandepsin A (TDP-A) 10, a recent discovery in desipeptide class of HDACi with lowest concentration of anti-proliferative activity. This is known to induce pro-apoptotic pathway protein Bax, and inturn decreases anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Xiao, Li et al. 2015) (**Fig. 8).** Apart from anti-cancer activities of HDAC inhibitors, they are also known to possess anti-inflammatory and anti-viral properties.



Figure 8. HDAC Inhibitors: Adapted from Journal of Clinical Epigenetics (2016)

# 1.6 Histone Deacetylase 8 (HDAC8)

HDAC8 is the best-studied class I HDAC, both mechanistically and structurally. It was first discovered in the year 2000 where it was involved in catalyzing the deacetylation of number of acetylated histone variants (Hu, Chen et al. 2000; Gantt, Gattis et al. 2006; Dowling, Gattis et al. 2010). HDAC8 is the only deacetylase enzyme known to be crystallized in full length till date (**Fig. 9**) (Vannini, Volpari et al. 2004) and found to be active when expressed and purified from

bacterial system. It is a 377 amino acid (42 kDa) protein and is X-linked in humans, known to function independently without additional co-factors. (Hu, Chen et al. 2000; Gantt, Gattis et al. 2006; Smith and Denu 2007; Dowling, Gantt et al. 2008). HDAC8 is ubiquitously expressed in its primary site i.e. nucleus, as observed in NIH3T3 (Hu, Chen et al. 2000) and HEK 293T cell lines (Buggy, Sideris et al. 2000).



*Figure 9. Crystal structure of HDAC8* PDB Ortholog search: PDBe RCSB <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/HDAC8</u>



Apart from H3 & H4 histone proteins, HDAC8 is able to recognize and deacetylate some of the acetylated non-histone proteins (**Fig. 10**) (Liu, Tarle et al. 1993) (Durst, Lutterbach et al. 2003; Dowling, Gantt et al. 2008). However, the list is incomplete and several of its substrates remained elusive.



Figure 10. HDAC8 Substrates – Histone & Non-histone: Deacetylation activity of HDAC8 substrates. HDAC8 is known to deacetylate histones and non-histones in vitro. p<sup>53</sup> derived peptide is validated tetrapeptide substrate for HDAC8. Substrates for in vivo majorly involve non-histone proteins whereas; in vivo histone substrates remain still controversial. Kac represents for lysine acetylation, RKac represents arginine and lysine RSKacFE, arginine-serine-Kac-phenyl-glutamic acid. Adapted from Trends in pharmacol sci. (2015).

#### **1.7 HDAC8 and Cancer**

Overexpression of HDAC8 is quite aggressive in many cancers like colon, breast, lung, pancreases and also in childhood neuroblastoma (Nakagawa, Oda et al. 2007; Oehme, Deubzer et al. 2009). Knockdown of HDAC8 using siRNA has shown to inhibit human lung, colon, and cervical cancer proliferation (Vannini, Volpari et al. 2004). Whereas, upregulation of HDAC8 is known to inhibit apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma (Wu, Du et al. 2013). SOX4 (sex determining region – Y) –box 4 a transcription factor regulates HDAC8 expression by directly activating promoter in adult T cell leukemia/lymphoma (ATL) as supported by the microarray analysis (Schilham, Oosterwegel et al. 1996; Bergsland, Werme et al. 2006; Potzner, Tsarovina et al. 2010). Specific inhibition (PCI-3051) of HDAC8 studies demonstrated calcium-mediated and caspase-dependent apoptosis in T-cell derived lymphoma and leukemic cells (e.g., Jurkat, HuT78, and Molt-4)(Balasubramanian, Ramos et al. 2008) (**Fig. 11**).

Knockdown of HDAC8 was shown to inhibit the growth of ATL cells lines (Higuchi, Nakayama et al. 2013).

Knockouts of HDAC8 in mice after birth were non-lethal (Haberland, Mokalled et al. 2009). Anti-cancer treatments in humans with pan-HDAC inhibitors are consistently tolerable (Garber 2007). Skull defects are attributed to the overexpression of transcription factors like Otx2 and Lhx1, which are known to be either directly regulated or in complex with HDAC8 (Haberland, Mokalled et al. 2009).

Mutations or truncations in HDAC8 protein is correlated to disability in understanding, mental retardation with severe facial abnormalities (Kaiser, Ansari et al. 2014) (Deardorff, Bando et al. 2012) (Harakalova, van den Boogaard et al. 2012). HDAC8 mutants are not found to be

# Introduction 21

lethal, but observed with severe facial abnormalities, which justifies the role of HDAC8 as a scaffold for other proteins. (Lee, Sengupta et al. 2006; Gao, Siddoway et al. 2009).



*Figure 11. HDAC8 is associated with different protein complexes involved in cancer.* Adapted from Trends pharmacol sci. (2015).

#### **1.8 HDAC8 and other diseases**

Recent studies have identified the role of HDAC8 in enhanced endocytosis, acidification and penetration of Influenza A and Uukuniemi virus (Yamauchi, Boukari et al. 2011). The pathway includes conversion of early endosomes to lysosomes, which resulted in altered endocytosis with insufficient acid conversion of the viruses (de Vries, Tscherne et al. 2011; Yamauchi, Boukari et al. 2011). Knockdown of HDAC8/HDAC3 with siRNA reduced the viral infectivity, (Yamauchi, Boukari et al. 2011) due to decreased HDAC8 levels that in turn alters the dynamics of microtubule networks, causing centrosome splitting, decrease of centrosome associated microtubules which finally leads to improper orientation of centripetal movements of late endo/lysosomes. This signifies the importance of HDAC8 which is known to orchestrate the dynamics of centrosome and cohesion complex and control the endosome mobility. The exact deacetylation mechanism of centrosome or the other regulators of cohesion which leads to entry of influenza virus is quite unclear.

#### **1.9 Known Inhibitors of HDAC8**

Specific and selective HDAC8 inhibitor designing along with its characterization in advanced preclinical models is still a questionable challenge. Several examples are available which are selective to HDAC8. Different class of molecules are included in this category, such as "linkerless" inhibitor 1, compound2, others like 12-membered macrocycle-based phenyl hydroxamate 3, and triazole-containing compounds, such as NCC149(5) and 6 (Krennhrubec, Marshall et al. 2007; Tang, Luo et al. 2011; Olson, Wagner et al. 2013; Suzuki, Muto et al. 2014). Reduction growth T-cell lymphoma in of cells was observed with the treatment of Triazoles 5 and 6 and also a dramatic change in the acetylation pattern of cohesin was

# Introduction 23

demonstrated in HeLa cells. Significant growth inhibition towards many human lung cancer cell lines was observed in vitro with the treatment of Ortho-aryl N-hydroxycinnamides such as 4, which is a very selective inhibitor for HDAC8 (Huang, Wang et al. 2012). Compounds 1, 8, and 9 have an average range of HDAC8 selectivity with micromolar range (**Fig. 12**).



Figure 12. Known specific HDAC8 Inhibitors: Adapted from Leukemia (2008), Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. (2007), J. Med. Chem. (2013, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. (2011), ChemMedChem (2014), ChemMedChem. (2012), ChemMedChem (2009), J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. (2003), Bioorg. Med. Chem. (2011) Clinical studies with isoform specific inhibitor studies are known to shown promising results, as observed in the case of clinical studies with neuroblastoma and T cell leukemia conditions, where selective HDAC8i was used. PCI-34051 (**Fig. 13**) is a highly selective inhibitor for HDAC8 (>200 fold) is quite effective in anti-proliferative studies with T-cell leukemia, but it did not show any effect in case of solid tumors (Balasubramanian, Ramos et al. 2008) (Huang, Wang et al. 2012).



*Figure 13. Structure of PCI-34051* http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/catalog/product/sigma/p0062?lang=en&region=IN

Compounds 3 and 10 are considered to be effective at nanomolar concentration. Benzyhydroxamate 2 is also shown to inhibit HDAC8 at nanomolar concentration, but it was also showing its potency in inhibiting HDAC6 at a higher rate. Pan.-HDAC inhibitors like SAHA (Suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid) and TSA (Trichostatin A) show a very weaker affinity for binding with HDAC8. *In vivo* anti-cancer studies have shown promising results, along with adverse side effects like diarrhea, hematological toxicity and cardiac issues. Thus, there is an urgent need in minimizing these side effects by designing inhibitors by differentiating between HDAC8 related specificity to other HDAC isoforms (**Fig. 14**). This can be more specific with higher standards of safety (Chakrabarti, Oehme et al. 2015).



Figure 14. Inhibitors co-crystalized with HDAC8: Adapted from Structure (2004) PLoS Pathog.(2013), EMBO Rep.(2007), Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (2004), ACS Chem. Biol. (2014), Bioorg. Med. Chem. 19, (2011), J. Mol. Biol. (2014), Biochemistry (2008), Biochemistry (2010), J. Am. Chem. Soc. (2011)

Thus, it is very clear that HDAC inhibitors are drawing attention in current clinical studies for treating various diseases including cancer, viral infections, inflammation and neurological diseases. In general these broad spectrums HDACi are known to have numerous off targets HDACs; this in turn will lead to inhibit the multi protein complexes involved with them. Off target effects are known to cause severe toxicities causing damage to even normal cells. All though developing specific HDACi is quite chanllenging due to unavailability of crystal structures for all the HDACs. Therefore, it is necessary to develop and use a selective HDAC inhibitor, in order to better understand the molecular effects in a specific cell type.

#### 2.0 Rationale of the study

Although HDAC8 is structurally and mechanistically very well studied, details on its nonhistone protein-binding partners are obscure. Furthermore, HDAC8 is X-linked gene and known to be specifically overexpressed in female-specific cancers like cervical, breast, and ovary. Therefore, the rationale of the study was to identify non-histone protein binding partners of HDAC8 in cancerous and normal cells. We have considered HeLa (cervical cancer) cells for our study as cancerous cell line and HEK 293T as normal non-cancerous cell line. Although normal non-cancerous cervical epithelial cell line would have been a better control, due to unavailability of transformed cell line, we used HEK 293T as a control cell line.

The following are the objectives of the study:

- Identification and characterization of non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.
- Protein-protein interaction studies of HDAC8 & Acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin.
- Functional characterization studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin interactions in vitro.





# **2.1 Materials**

Forskolin was purchased from Sigma (USA). PCI-34051 was procured from Cayman chemicals. DMEM, FBS, 1% Penicillin & Streptomycin Antibiotics were obtained from Himedia. Monoclonal antibody of HDAC8 (A-4008) was obtained from Epigenetik, Beta actin ab8227 (Abcam), GAPDH (MA5-15738), Alpha tubulin (B-5-1-2) and anti-acetylated alpha tubulin (Cat no: 322700) were purchased from Thermo scientific Life technologies respectively. Protein A Agarose beads were obtained from Santa Cruz. Poly-L-Lysine (Sigma P8920), 4', 6-Diamindino-2-phenylindole dichloride DAPI as a nuclear stain (Sigma), Alexa Fluor® 555 Dye (Thermo Fischer Scientific). HDAC8 FLUOR DE LYS fluorometric assay kit (BML-AK518-0001) was purchased from Enzo life sciences. Propidium iodide was purchased from Himedia. GST Column (GE Healthcare 17-5132-01), Custom synthesized peptides of alpha tubulin 33-46 amino acids, Acetylated alpha tubulin peptide, at Lys40 DGQMPSDKTIGGGD and Unacetylated Alpha tubulin peptide DGQMPSDKTIGGGD from SIGMA (USA) (resuspended in MilliQ water).

#### **2.2 Methods**

#### **2.2.1 Cell culture and Treatments**

Human embryonic kidney cells, HEK293T and human cervical carcinoma cells, HeLa, MDAMB 231, A549, K562, Colo and HCT11 were obtained from National Centre for Cell Sciences (NCCS), Pune, India. Cell line authentication by STR analysis was performed for 10 genetic loci for all the cell lines using Life code, Genomic technologies Pvt. Ltd., and tested for mycoplasma negative by performing PCR (mycoplasma specific genes) by using EZdetect PCR kit for mycoplasma

detection (CCK009). All the cells were cultured in high glucose DMEM medium containing 10% foetal bovine serum and 1% Penicillin/streptomycin (Himedia). Cells were seeded in 60 mm dishes and upon attaining 80-90% confluency, treatment was given with PCI-34051(Cayman Chemicals) ( $10\mu$ M/20 $\mu$ M) (Bantscheff, Hopf et al. 2011) and tubastatin ( $5\mu$ M) or both (PCI-34051 20 $\mu$ M + Tubastatin 5  $\mu$ M) for 24 hrs (Bantscheff, Hopf et al. 2011) and Forskolin (Sigma) ( $10\mu$ M) for 45 min independently along with untreated control as described earlier (Lee, Rezai-Zadeh et al. 2004).

#### 2.2.2 Immunofluorescence

HeLa and HEK 293T cells (Control, PCI-34081Forskolin treated), were fixed with 4% formaldehyde prepared in 1XPBS for 20 min at RT followed by permeabilization with 0.25% TritonX-100 in 1XPBS. Nucleolus from HeLa cells were isolated according to the standard protocol (Lam, Trinkle-Mulcahy et al. 2005) and fixed on a slide with Poly-L-Lysine (Sigma P8920) coating. Cells were stained with Monoclonal antibody of HDAC8 (A-4008) from Epigenetik or anti-acetylated alpha tubulin (Cat no: 322700) from Thermo scientific Life technologies respectively, followed with Anti-mouse or Anti-rabbit secondary labelled with Alexa Fluor, and 4', 6-Diamindino-2-phenylindole dichloride DAPI as a nuclear stain (Sigma).

#### 2.2.3 HDAC8 Enzyme Activity Assay

HeLa and HEK 293T cells were cultured in high glucose DMEM medium containing 10% foetal bovine serum and 1% Penicillin/streptomycin (Himedia). Cells were seeded in 60 mm dishes and upon attaining 80-90% confluency, treatment was given with PCI-34051(Cayman Chemicals) (10  $\mu$ M) for 24 hrs and Forskolin (Sigma) (10  $\mu$ M) for 45 min (Lee, Rezai-Zadeh et al. 2004) independently along with control (untreated). HDAC8 Enzyme activity assay was performed (HDAC8 FLUOR DE LYS fluorometric assay kit BML-AK518-0001) for Control, PCI-34051, and forskolin

treated Immunoprecipitated (Anti-HDAC8 antibody 2µg for ~500µg of total, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions) fractions of total protein, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of HeLa and HEK 293T cell lines according to the manufacturers protocol.

#### 2.2.4 Protein expression studies/ Western blotting

Total, cytoplasmic or nuclear fractions [Control, PCI-34051 (10  $\mu$ M/20  $\mu$ M ) & Forskolin (10  $\mu$ M), Tubastatin 5  $\mu$ M, or (PCI-34051 20  $\mu$ M + Tubastatin 5  $\mu$ M)] treated of HeLa & HEK 293T (or) total protein from HCT11, Colo, K562, A549, MDAMB 231, Hela, HEK 293T (or) HDAC8 siRNA, Scrambled siRNA transfected cells of HeLa and HEK 293T were prepared by lysing the cells with RIPA buffer (total protein) or by using, cytoplasmic extraction with (30 mM Tris p<sup>H</sup> 7.5, 10 mM Magnesium acetate, 1% NP-40, 1 mM PMSF, 1X Protease inhibitor cocktail) and Nuclear fraction with (420 mM Nacl, 10 mM HEPES, 10 mM MgCl2, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 25% Glycerol, 1 mM PMSF, 1X Protease inhibitor cocktail) of equal conentrations and separated on 10 or 12% SDS-PAGE. Antibodies of HDAC8 (A-4008) from Epigenetik, Beta actin ab8227Alpha tubulin (B-5-1-2) and anti-acetylated alpha tubulin (Cat no: 322700) GAPDH (MA5-15738) from Thermo scientific Life technologies, were used for western blotting.

#### **2.2.5 Immunoprecipitation and MALDI TOF-TOF Analysis**

HeLa cells were grown in 100 mm dishes supplemented with DMEM medium containing 10% foetal bovine serum and 1% Penicillin/streptomycin (Himedia) till 90% confluency was attained. Cells were trypsinized, washed with 1XPBS and then lysed with (IP Lysis Buffer 50mM Tris  $p^{H}$  8.0, 150mM Nacl, 10% Glycerol, 0.5% TritonX-100. 1X Protease Inhibitor Cocktail). In duplicates ~500 µg of total protein with ~2 µg of Anti-HDAC8 (A-4008) from Epigenetik, and Mouse IgG as an isotypic control was set up on a rotaspin at 4°C for overnight. Protein A beads 20 µl were washed

thoroughly three times with lysis buffer, and then added to the Antibody-Lysate mixture and further incubated for two hours. After two hours, beads were washed with wash buffer (MSWB Buffer 50mM Tris  $p^{H}$  8.0, 150mM Nacl, 1mM EDTA and 0.1%NP-40) for three to five times at 3000 rpm, 2 min 4°C. Samples were prepared in 2X sample buffer, and separated on 10% SDS PAGE along with the input sample lysate. Coomassie staining was performed for the resulting gel, and differentially obtained band in the IP sample was further subjected to MALDI TOF-TOF analysis. Mascot search results confirmed Alpha tubulin-1C as one of the non-histone interacting partner of HDAC8 with a significant score of 56%, 12 matches and (p<0.05).

#### 2.2.6 Sequence analysis

The amino acid sequences of tubulins were retrieved from NCBI database (Accession numbers: AAH33064.1, AAH20946.1, and AAF34188.1 for alpha, beta and gamma tubulin respectively). They were further subjected to multiple sequence alignment using Clustal omega (Sievers, Wilm et al. 2011) to infer sequence conservation among the tubulin proteins. The sequences were analyzed for functional conserved regions using Pfam database (Finn, Bateman et al. 2014). This was followed by PDB-BLAST (Altschul, Gish et al. 1990) to search for a suitable template for the homology modelling. The crystal structures for beta-tubulin (PDB ID: 2XRP\_A) and gamma-tubulin (PDB ID: 3CB2\_A) were available in the database. However, Alpha-tubulin did not have any structure in PDB and therefore its structure was built using homology modelling (described below). In addition to this, Protein BLAST in eukaryotic genomes was also carried out to analyze the sequence homology.

# 2.2.7 Phylogenetic Tree Analysis of Alpha tubulin

The sequence of human alpha-tubulin C (NCBI ID: AAH33064.1) was used as query against the BLASTP (Altschul *et al.*, 1997) database of Eukaryotes to identify homologues and

the sequences with significant E-value were retrieved. MUSCLE 3.5 (Edgar *et al.*, 2004) was used for the multiple sequence alignment. The alignment was edited using AliView (Anders Larsson *et al.*, 2015). The Maximum Likelihood tree was constructed using PhyML v. 3.0 (Guindon *et al.*, 2010) with LG model.

#### 2.2.8 Homology Modelling

Homology modelling is a well-known methodology for building an atomic-resolution model of a protein from its amino acid sequence (the "query sequence" or "target"). "The technique is based on the identification of one or more known protein structures (known as "templates" or "parent structures") likely to resemble the structure of the query sequence and on the production of an alignment that maps residues in the query sequence to residues in the template sequence. Homology modelling of Alpha tubulin was carried out by I-TASSER, an online webserver for protein structure prediction and structure-based function annotation (Yang, Yan et al. 2015). The tertiary structure prediction was performed by I-TASSER server by using the best align template". The template was selected to analyze 3-D structure because a high level of sequence identity should guarantee a more accurate alignment between the target sequence and template structure.

Out of the generated models of the target sequence, the best template (PDB ID: 4I4T\_A) was selected based on the significant sequence, C-Score, TM score and RMSD values of template structure.

The generated predicted models were further analyzed for their quality by I-TASSER using C- score (confidence score) as a reference. "It is calculated based on the significance of threading template alignments and the convergence parameters of the structure assembly simulations. C- score is normally in the range of [-5, 2], where a C-score of higher value signifies a model with a

high confidence and vice-versa. TM-score is a scale for measuring the structural similarity between two structures (Zhang and Skolnick 2004). A TM-score >0.5 indicates a model of correct topology and a TM-score<0.17 means a random similarity. This cut-off does not depend on the protein length. With respect to RMSD, it is measured as an average distance of all residue pairs in two structures". The resulting model was further validated by Verify 3D (Luthy, Bowie et al. 1992), ERRAT (Colovos and Yeates 1993) and Ramachandran plot (Ramachandran, Ramakrishnan et al. 1963) programs. PyMOL (Schrodinger Inc.) (DeLano, 2002) was used to visualize the model and generate publishable images.

#### 2.2.9 Protein-Protein Interactions using ZDOCK

Protein-protein interaction studies of tubulins (alpha, beta, gamma) were carried out with HDAC8 (PDB ID: 1W22\_A) using ZDOCK (Pierce, Wiehe et al. 2014), which is an interactive online based server for docking protein-protein complexes. "It uses the Fast Fourier Transform algorithm to enable an efficient global docking search on a 3D grid, and utilizes a combination of shape complementarity, electrostatics and statistical potential terms for scoring. It has been shown that ZDOCK achieved high predictive accuracy on protein–protein docking benchmarks, with >70% success in the top 1000 predictions for rigid-body cases in the most recent benchmark version (Pierce, Wiehe et al. 2014). ZDOCK has consistent success (acceptable or better predictions for 22 of the last 35 submitted targets) in the international protein–protein docking experiment, Critical Assessment of Predicted Interactions (CAPRI)" Upon sequence confirmation of the insert, clone was transformed into *Escherichia coli* strain BL21 cells. Protein expression and purification protocols were well standardized. Further confirmation of the purity of the purified protein was carried out by SDS-PAGE with Coomassie staining, which depicts >80% pure followed by Western blot confirmation (**Fig. 32** 

**a&b**). (Wiehe, Pierce et al. 2005, Wiehe, Pierce et al. 2007, Hwang, Vreven et al. 2010, Vreven, Pierce et al. 2013).

#### 2.2.10 Co-Immunoprecipitation and Immunoblotting

Protein Lysates are prepared from control, PCI-34051 and forskolin treated samples of HeLa and HEK 293T cell lines using (IP Lysis Buffer 50mM Tris p<sup>H</sup> 8.0, 150mM Nacl, 10% Glycerol, 0.5% TritonX-100. 1X Protease Inhibitor Cocktail). Total protein of ~500  $\mu$ g was used for incubating with ~3  $\mu$ g of Anti-HDAC8 antibody or ~3  $\mu$ g of Anti –  $\alpha$  Tubulin Antibody (B-5-1-2) on a rotaspin for overnight at 4°C. Mouse IgG was used as control. Protein A beads slurry of 20  $\mu$ l was added to each tube after washing three times with IP Lysis buffer and further incubated for two hours at 4°C. The samples were washed three times with wash buffer (MSWB Buffer 50mM Tris p<sup>H</sup> 8.0, 150mM Nacl, 1mM EDTA and 0.1%NP-40) and final sample was prepared by boiling the beads in 2X Sample buffer.

Prepared protein samples were resolved on 10 or 12% SDS PAGE and then blotted to PVDF (BioTrace PVDF from PALL life sciences). Antibodies of HDAC8 (A-4008) from Epigenetik, Alpha tubulin (B-5-1-2) and anti-acetylated alpha tubulin (Cat no: 322700) from Thermo scientific Life technologies were used for immunoblotting.

# 2.2.11 hHDAC8 clone (construct p<sup>GEX</sup>- 6p1 hHDAC8) and expression of GST-HDAC8 fusion protein

hHDAC8 (Full length) cDNA was amplified by using a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with forward primer: 5'– GGAATTCATGGAGGAGCCGGAGGAACC-3' and a reverse primer: 5'– CCGCTCGAGCTAGACCACATGCTTCAGATTCCC–3'. The PCR product was then sub cloned into p<sup>GEX</sup>- 6p1 plasmid. Clone was then overexpressed in *Escherichia coli* strain BL21 (DE3) with standardized expression conditions as 0.1Mm IPTG, 28°c, 4 hrs. Full length HDAC8 was purified using a GST column (GE Healthcare).

#### 2.2.12 Purification of GST - hHDAC8

Induced culture pellet was lysed in 1XPBS buffer (140mM Nacl, 2.7 mM Kcl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPo<sub>4</sub>, 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) along with 1X Protease inhibitor cocktail, 1 mM PMSF, and 0.1 mM DTT. To the lysate 1% Triton X 100 is added and centrifuged for 20 min at a speed of 4000 rpm at 4°c. Clear supernatant was used for binding with GST binding buffer (25 mM Tris p<sup>H</sup> 7.5, 300 mM Nacl, 1 mM EDTA, 1X Protease inhibitor cocktail) for 3 hrs on a rota spin at 4°c. Binding was followed by collection of unbound and washes with 1X PBS (5 washes). Elutions were collected in 10 mM reduced glutathione, dissolved in 50 mM Tris p<sup>H</sup> 8.0. The purity of the protein was then analysed on SDS PAGE, followed by western blot. Activity was then determined by HDAC activity assay.

#### 2.2.13 Surface plasmon resonance studies

All the reagents including GST-HDAC8 and peptides were diluted in HBS-EP buffer. Biacore T200 system (GE Healthcare), with software of Evaluation V 2.0 was used to perform SPR analysis. CM5 chip sensor chip, immobilization and running and regeneration buffers were used according to the methodology described previously (GST capture kit GE healthcare). GST Antibody  $25\mu$ g/mL was used for immobilization. After attaining the required response units for GST-Ab, GST-HDAC8 binding analysis was standardized with 2, 4 & 6  $\mu$ g/mL concentrations in HBS\_EP buffer. Relative response units (R.U) for both binding and stability were attained to an acceptable range. Binding studies of GST-HDAC8 (6 $\mu$ g/mL) with peptides Acetylated Alpha tubulin peptide at Lys40



DGQMPSDKTIGGGD and Unacetylated Alpha tubulin peptide DGQMPSDKTIGGGD were carried out with following conditions, contact time of 120(s); Flow rate: 30 µl/min; Dissociation time period: 600 (s) regeneration solution Glyc Hcl pH2.0; contact time 30(s); Flow rate: 30 µl/min; stabilization period: 0 (s) analysis temperature: 25°C, sample compartment temperature: 25°C. The experiment was repeated twice.

#### 2.2.14 Fluorescence spectrometry

Binding studies of GST-HDAC8 & alpha tubulin peptides (ac & Unac) forms were carried out using Perkin Elmer precisely LS55 fluorescence spectrometry. Time dependent intrinsic fluorescence decrease in the fluorescence intensities were recorded for blank buffer (Tris pH 8.0 50 mM) GST-HDAC8 (1 $\mu$ M) alone, GST-HDAC8 + acetylated alpha tubulin (500nM) and GST-HDAC8 + unacetylated alpha tubulin (500nM). Pure GST-HDAC8 was incubated with acetylated (500nM) and unacetylated alpha tubulin peptides (500nM) independently, with time dependence from 5-30 min, at 37°C in Tris 50 mM pH 8.0. The decrease in the fluorescence intensity was plotted against the wavelength (nm).

#### 2.2.15 Circular Dichroism Spectroscopy Studies

Binding studies of GST-HDAC8 pure protein of  $(2\mu M)$  concentration (Nacl concentration of 10mM, 50mM Tris p<sup>H</sup> 8.0) and 500nM concentrations of both acetylated (Lys40) and unacetylated alpha tubulin peptides were carried out on Jasco J-1500 (model L-1500-450). Changes incurred in the secondary structure of GST-HDAC8 upon binding of both the peptides were recorded as the mean ellipticity, with given set of parameters. Start wavelength of 300nm, end wavelength of 190 nm, scan

speed of 100 nm/min, band width of 2nm, cuvette cell size of 2mm and at a temperature of 25°C with two scan accumulations.

# 2.2.16 HPLC Studies

In vitro deacetylation assay of custom synthesized acetyalated (Lys40) alpha tubulin was carried out on HPLC (Schimadzu) with C18 (4.6x250mm) column. The reaction was carried out in 50mM Tris pH 7.5, 1mM DTT buffer. Initially 500 nM concentrations of both Acetylated (Lys40) and Unacetylated alpha tubulin peptide were incubated individually in the buffer for 5 min or buffer with peptide was incubated for 5 min at  $37^{\circ}$ C , followed by addition of GST-HDAC8 protein (2µM) and incubation at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 15 min. The reaction was then quenched by addition of 1% TFA to the final reaction volume of 110µl and injected into HPLC as described earlier (Allis 2004).

# 2.2.17 RNA interference (siRNA) studies

Source for siRNA oligonucleotides were considered from (Deardorff, Bando et al. 2012) with sequence, HDAC8 Sense: GACGGAAAUUUGAGCGUAUUCUCU and Anti-sense: UAGAGAAUACGCUCAAAUUUCCGU. The oligonucleotides were converted into siRNA by following standard protocol as described earlier (Donze and Picard 2002). HeLa and HEK 293T cells were transfected with HDAC8 siRNA (10-15  $\mu$ g/100 mm dish) using lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen), and considering untransfected as control. Cells were harvested after 72 hrs of post-transfection and processed for total RNA and protein isolation.

#### 2.2.18 Real time Analysis

HeLa and HEK 293T cells treated with PCI-34051 (20  $\mu$ M) or Paclitaxel (20  $\mu$ M) for 24 hrs or HDAC8 siRNA (10-15  $\mu$ g/100 mm dish) transfected HEK 293T and HeLa for 72 hrs, along with control were subjected to total RNA isolation by using TRIZOL (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). As per the manufacturers protocol 1  $\mu$ g of RNA was reverse transcribed with reverse transcription kit, (Invitrogen). Real-time RT-PCR was performed on Applied Biosystems StepOnePlus<sup>TM</sup> Instrument using KAPA SYBR® FAST qPCR master mix and gene-specific primers. The experiment was repeated twice, which were performed in duplicates. Fold expression determination, gene-to-GAPDH ratios were determined by using the 2<sup>- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct</sup> method. Details of primers used are given below.

> GAPDH: FP 5'-GAGAAGGCTGGGGGCTCATTTGC-3', RP 5'-TGGTGCAGGAGGCATTGCTGATG-3', HDAC6: FP 5'- GGCTAGGTTATGACTGCCCAGC-3', RP 5'- CATGATGCCACCCTCCAGACC-3', HDAC8: FP 5'- TGTCTCTGGAGGGTGGCTACAAC-3', RP 5'- GGAAACTGAAGCCTGGGCACTC-3'

#### 2.2.19 Cell Migration Assay

HeLa cells are grown in 6 well plates in duplicates till it attains 90% confluency and starved with serum free media for overnight. Using a sterile 200 µl tip wound is created by drawing straight lines at three different points in each well. Detached cells are aspirated and washed three times with 1XPBS. Cells are treated with PCI-34051 (10µM & 20µM) and Paclitaxel (10µM & 20µM) dissolved in 2% FBS respectively along with control (untreated). Migrated cells into the wound were examined by capturing images using Olympus CKX41, ProgRes CT3 phase contrast microscope after 24 and 48 hours.

# 2.2.20 Cell Morphology Analysis

HeLa and HEK 293T cells are cultured in 6 well plates till attaining 70% confluency. Cells are starved for 12 hours without serum and treated with PCI-34051 (20µM) and Paclitaxel (20µM) along with untreated control for 24 & 48 hrs. Examined difference in the morphology was captured by Olympus CKX41, ProgRes CT3 phase contrast microscope at 10X focussed lens.

# 2.2.21 Cell Cycle Analysis

Cells (HeLa & HEK 293T) were grown to attain 70% confluency and were serum starved for 12 hours, followed by treatments with PCI-34051 (20µM) and Paclitaxel (20µM) respectively for 48 hrs and processed for cell cycle analysis with propidium iodide staining.





# Objective: 1

Identification and characterization of non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.

#### **3.1.1 HDAC8 is localized predominantly to Cytoplasm**

Modifications occurring on DNA, without altering its genetic makeup and are heritable to daughter cells, is generally considered as an epigenetic modifications. The key modulators of epigenetic regulation include DNA methylation, chromatin remodeling and histone modifications (Weinhold 2006). Among all the histone modifications identified, histone acetylation and deacetylation is very well studied. Regulation of histone deacetylation by HDACs occurs in a very complex and balanced manner. It has been well studied that other than HDAC8, all other HDACs are known to work in multiprotein complexes and regulate many physiological and pathophysiological conditions (Yang and Seto 2003). HDAC8 belongs to class I HDACs that are generally localized to nucleus and regulate gene expression. Although HDAC8 is well-characterized structurally its precise cellular localization, functional role and the substrates are not known completely (Olson, Udeshi et al. 2014). Since HDAC8 is known to be involved in female-specific cancers such as ovary, cervical and breast (Nakagawa, Oda et al. 2007), we have used HeLa cervical cancer cells along with HEK 293T normal cells so as to get an insight on its role in normal and cancer cells. HDAC8 is known to deacetylate acetylated peptide in vitro implicating its unique behavior when compared to other class I HDACs that function in protein complexes. In order to better understand this unique nature and identify the protein interacting partners of HDAC8, it is therefore important to first determine the precise cellular localization of HDAC8.

In the present study, the confocal microscopic analysis confirmed the predominant cytoplasmic localization of HDAC8 in both HEK293T and HeLa cells (**Fig. 15a**) unlike other class I HDACs that are known to be majorly nuclear. Results obtained from our localization studies clearly suggest the role of HDAC8 in cytoplasm. Overexpression of HDAC8 was clearly observed

in HeLa, when compared to HEK 293T cells were there was a basal level of expression and confined majorly to cytoplasm. The results obtained are in agreement with the earlier studies (Buggy, Sideris et al. 2000, Hu, Chen et al. 2000, Van den Wyngaert, de Vries et al. 2000, Li, Chen et al. 2014). However, in HeLa cells, nucleolar expression of HDAC8 was also observed which was not seen in HEK 293T cells (**Fig. 15b**).



*Figure 15. HDAC8 is predominantly cytoplasmic in localization: a. confocal images of HDAC8 localization in HeLa (upper panel) and HEK 293T (lower panel) (Scale: 20 µm). b. Nucleolar localization of HDAC8 in HeLa (Scale: 20 µm).* 

Such nucleolar localization of a protein involved in transcriptional regulation and gene repression in cancer cells was observed with CCCTC-binding factor (CTCF) (Torrano, Navascues et al. 2006). Exploring the role of HDAC8 in nucleolus would be interesting and is not in the scope of this study.

Phosphorylation of HDAC8 is considered as one of the key post translational modification in regulating its enzyme activity. Studies performed with some of the protein kinases like casein kinase II, protein kinase A (PKA) and protein kinase G (PKG) demonstrated that phosphorylation of HDAC8 was known to be catalyzed by PKA and PKG (Tsai and Seto 2002). Predominant phosphorylation of HDAC8 was catalyzed by PKA as demonstrated by *in vivo* studies with H-89, a PKA inhibitor, which was shown to decrease the levels of HDAC8 phosphorylation (Lee, Rezai-Zadeh et al. 2004).

Studies also suggested that Ser39 phosphorylation of HDAC8 leads to fivefold decrease in HDAC8 enzyme activity in an *in vitro* assay with purified histones as the substrate (Lee, Rezai-Zadeh et al. 2004). Furthermore, *in vivo* experiments have suggested that phosphorylated form of HDAC8 has decreased enzyme activity as demonstrated with the increased acetylated levels of Histone 3 and Histone 4 (Lee, Rezai-Zadeh et al. 2004). Phosphorylation of HDAC8 was also known to regulate the protein-protein interactions. Studies confirm that only phosphoHDAC8 was found to be interacting with some of the proteins like hEST1B and also Hsp70. (Lee, Sengupta et al. 2006).

Moreover, Class II HDACs are known to shuttle between cytoplasm and nucleus when phosphorylated. Therefore, we next analyzed the cellular location of p-HDAC8 by treating cells

# **Results and discussion** 42

with forskolin, an activator of PKA. The confocal images revealed no difference in localization of HDAC8 suggesting, HDAC8 and its phospho-form are majorly cytoplasmic in location (**Fig. 16**).



*Figure 16: Phospho HDAC8 is majorly cytoplasmic in localization:* Confocal images of HDAC8 localization in Forskolin (10 μM) treated HeLa (upper panel) and HEK 293T (lower panel) (Scale: 20 μm).

Cytoplasmic localization of HDAC8 was further confirmed by protein expression studies of HDAC8 in total, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of HeLa and HEK 293T. Results obtained from immunoblot analysis, clearly supports the localization studies confirming higher expression in cytoplasmic fraction, compared to nuclear in both HeLa and HEK 293T cells (**Fig. 17**). Results from the activity assay clearly confirms that both cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of HeLa and HEK 293T are found to be active (**Fig. 18**). Thus, active form of HDAC8 in both cytoplasm and nuclear fractions, further implicates the functional importance in regulating both non-histone and histone proteins.



*Figure 17. HDAC8 protein expression levels in HeLa and HEK 293T:* HDAC8 protein levels in total, cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions of HeLa and HEK 293T. Beta actin and histone-3 are loading controls.

Further, we have performed HDAC8 enzyme activity assay using the immunoprecipitated fractions of total, cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins of untreated and PCI-34051(a HDAC8 selective inhibitor).



**Figure 18. HDAC8 enzyme activity assay:** HDAC8 enzyme activity assay with total (5µg), cytoplasmic (5µg) and (nuclear) 5µg fractions in presence or absence of specific inhibitor PCI-34051(10 µM) in HeLa (a) and HEK 293T (b) respectively.

Forskolin (PKA activator) treatment is known to decrease HDAC8 activity. In our study, we have confirmed the decreased activity in both total and cytoplasmic fractions of forskolin treated conditions in both HeLa and HEK 293T. But, enzyme activity results from the nuclear fractions in both HeLa and HEK 293T have shown a significant increase in enzyme activity of forskolin treated conditions compared to untreated nuclear fraction indicating that phospho-HDAC8 might have a role in nucleus such as protecting human ortholog of the yeast ever-shorter telomeres 1B (hEST1B) from ubiquitination (Lee, Sengupta et al. 2006). **(Fig. 19)**.


*Figure 19. HDAC8 enzyme activity assay with Forskolin (10 μM) treated condition:* HDAC8 Immunoprecipitated fractions of total (5μg), cytoplasmic (5μg) and (nuclear) 5μg fractions, along with untreated control fractions of HeLa (a) and HEK 293T (b) respectively. \* indicates p-value <0.001.

## 3.1.2 Alpha tubulin is a non-histone substrate of HDAC8

Identification of protein-protein interactions by mass spectroscopy followed by immunoprecipitation (IP) and co-IP experiments is a well-established and very useful technique (Free, Hazelwood et al. 2009). Several interacting proteins have been identified using this approach.  $\alpha$ - actin is known to interact with HDAC8 endogenously in smooth muscle cells. The association of these two proteins were validated by co-localization studies, pull down experiments and immunofluorescence staining (Waltregny, De Leval et al. 2004, Waltregny, Glenisson et al. 2005, Karolczak-Bayatti, Sweeney et al. 2011). The results of the study indicated decreased contractions of smooth muscle cells when HDAC8 was knockdown by siRNA. The study has also shown to affect the morphology and structure of smooth muscle cells justifying the role of HDAC8

in modulating the cell cytoskeleton (Waltregny, Glenisson et al. 2005). Actin dynamics were further known to be regulated by association of HDAC8 with proteins like Hsp20 (Dreiza, Brophy et al. 2005), myosin heavy chain (Vicente-Manzanares, Ma et al. 2009), and cofilin (Karolczak-Bayatti, Sweeney et al. 2011). However the direct association of their acetylated forms with HDAC8 is quite unclear which does not consider them into active substrates of HDAC8 (Karolczak-Bayatti, Sweeney et al. 2011).

Furthermore, the levels of acetylation of another cytoskeletal protein, like  $\alpha$ -tubulin is known to be altered upon specific inhibition of HDAC8 (Krennhrubec, Marshall et al. 2007) or even by knockdown studies by siRNA(Yamauchi, Boukari et al. 2011) which in turn destabilizes the microtubule dynamics. Explanation for the effects of HDAC8 on the microtubule dynamics may be further understood by the relationship between cohesion activity and microtubules (Tanaka, Fuchs et al. 2000, Wong and Blobel 2008, Chen, Wikramasinghe et al. 2012).

We therefore next tried to identify HDAC8 protein interacting partners by immunoprecipitation followed by MALDI-TOF-TOF analysis. Coomassie staining of the denaturing gel of immunoprecipitated protein samples from HeLa cells showed a very prominent band at ~50 kDa (\*) and also above 29 kDa (&) along with HDAC8 at 42 kDa (**Fig. 20a**). Immunoblot results further confirm HDAC8 protein in IP and input sample (**Fig. 20b**).



Figure 20. Immunoprecipitation studies of HDAC8 with HeLa cell lysate : a. Coommassie stained gel with input and HDAC8-immunoprecipitated HeLa cell lysate along with protein marker. Band at (\*) ~50 kDa and at ~29 kDa (&) was excised and subjected to MALDI TOF-TOF analysis (#) represents for HDAC8 in coomassie gel at 43 kDa, further confirmed by immunoblot (b).

The bands were excised from the gel, and subjected to MALDI analysis. Mascot database search results identified protein as Alpha tubulin (~50 kDa) band with a protein score greater than 56, with significant score of p<0.05 (**Fig. 21**) and RBGIL (Rab GTPase-activating protein 1-like) with a score of 36 and 12 peptide matches for 29 kDa excised band, along with other proteins which are listed in **Table 1**.



*Figure 21. Alpha tubulin as one of the non-histone interacting partner of HDAC8: MS analysis and Mascot search results confirmed TUBA1-C* (*Human Alpha Tubulin chain 1 C isoform*) *with highest top score as the interacting partner of HDAC8.* 

S.No	Name of the protein identified	Top Score	Origin	Peptide matches	Mass (Daltons)
1	TBA1C-Tubulin Alpha 1C	56	Homo sapiens	12	50548
2	RBGIL (Rab GTPase-activating protein 1-like	36	Homo sapiens	12	29038
3	NUB1-NEDD8 ultimate buster	11	Homo sapiens	1	71235
4	PRP6 Pre-mRNA processing factor 6	7	Homonsapiens	1	NA
5	F228A Protein FAM228A	7	Homo sapiens	1	23965
6	CHST4 Carbohydrate sulfotransferase 4	6	Homo sapiens	1	45560

# Table 1: List of proteins identified from MALDI TOF TOF analysis

# 3.1.3 HDAC8 co-precipitates with Alpha tubulin

Owing to its abundance in cytoplasm, further results from our immunoprecipitation studies suggested the role of HDAC8 in regulating cytoplasmic proteins (Waltregny, De Leval et al. 2004). MALDI analysis results were further confirmed by immunoprecipitation studies. Co-IP (**Fig. 22a**) and reverse IP (**Fig. 22b**) studies results confirmed the interaction of HDAC8 and alpha tubulin in both HeLa (cervical cancer cell lines) and HEK 2963T (normal cells). Thus, from MALDI results we confirm that Alpha tubulin is one of the non-histone protein interacting partners of HDAC8.



*Figure 22. IP & Co-IP confirms HDAC8 & Alpha tubulin: a. Confirmation of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin by immunoprecipitation using HDAC8 antibody in HeLa and HEK293T cells. b. Reverse IP using Tubulin antibody confirms HDAC8 & Tubulin interaction in HeLa cells and HEK 293T respectively.* 

# Objective 2:

Protein-protein interaction studies of HDAC8 L Acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin

# 3.2 In silico

# 3.2.1 Lys40 of Alpha tubulin a conserved residue, interacts with HDAC8

To understand the specificity of HDAC8 towards three isoforms of tubulin proteins, multiple sequence alignment of tubulin proteins using clustal omega analysis was carried out (**Fig. 23**). The analysis showed that Lysine residue at 40<sup>th</sup> position (K40) is only present in Alpha tubulin and that other tubulin forms lack this lysine residue. The conserved K40 position in alpha tubulin is known to be acetylated in normal cellular process and is involved in regulation of protein trafficking, cell cycle and cell migration (Sadoul and Khochbin 2016).

CLUSTAL O(1.2.1) multiple sequence ali	gnment K40 POSITION
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1	-MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSOKTIGGGDDSFNTFFSETGAG
gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1	-MREIVHIQAGQCGNQIGAKFWEVISDEHGIDPTGTYHGDSDLQLDRISVYYNEATGG
gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	MPREIITLQLGQCGNQIGFEFWKQLCAEHGISPEGIVEEFATEGTDRKDVFFYQADDE
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1	KHVPRAVFVDLEPTVIDEVRTGTYRQLFHPEQLITGKEDAANNYARGHYTIGKEIIDL
gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1	KYVPRAILVDLEPGTMDSVRSGPFGQIFRPDNFVFGQSGAGNNWAKGHYTEGAELVDS
gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	HYIPRAVLLDLEPRVIHSILNSPYAKLYNPENIYLSEHGGGAGNNWASG-FSQGEKIHED
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1  gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1  gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	VLDRIHKFD
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1  gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1  gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	VSDTVVEPYNATLSVHQLVENTDETYCIDNEALYDICFRTLKLTTPTYGDLNHLVSATMS MSDVVVQPYNSLLTLKRLTQNADCVVVLDNTALNRIATDRLHIQNPSFSQINQLVSTIMS
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1  gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1  gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	FVHFPLATYAPVISAEK-AYHEQLTVAEITNAC GVTTCLRFPGQLNADLRKLAVNMVPFPRLHFFMPGFAPLTSRGSQQ-YRALTVPELTQQV ASTTTLRYPGYMNNDLIGLIASLIPTPRLHFLMTGYTPLTTDQSVASVRKTTVLDVMRRL :**: :::::: ** ::.
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1	FEPANQMVKCDPRHGKYMACCLLYRGDVVPKDVNAAIATIKTKRTIQFVDWCPTGFK
gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1	FDAKDMMAACDPRHGRYLTVAAVFRGRMSMKEVDEQMLNVQNKNSSYFVEWIPNNVK
gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	LQPKNVMVSTGRDRQTNHCYIAILNIIQGEVDPTQVHKSLQRIRERKLANFIPWGPASIQ
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1	VGINYQPPTVVPGGDLAKVQRAVCMLSNTTAVAEANARLDHKFDLPLRRIMRRLEQIVLT
gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1	TAVCDIPPRGLKMAVTFIGNSTAIQELFKRISEQFTAMFRRKAF-LHWYT-G
gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	VALSRKSPYLPSAHRVSGLMMANHTSISSLFESSCQQFDKLRKRDAF-LEQFR-K
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1	ERMRVKSINLCAVLLHSFVLELSYFCSVNVYCRKLLIKLMFPF-
gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1	EGMDEMEFTEAESNMNDLVSEYQQYQDATAEEEEDFGEEAEE
gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	EDMFKDNFDEMDRSREVVQELIDEYHAATQPDYISWGTQEQ-
gi 21619816 gb AAH33064.1  gi 18088719 gb AAH20946.1  gi 6970073 gb AAF34188.1 AF225971_1	EA

*Figure 23. Clustal omega sequence alignment of alpha, beta and gamma tubulins: Clustal omega analysis showing Lys 40 of Alpha tubulin whereas, Beta and Gamma tubulins have serine and alanine.* 

Further sequence analysis across different species in eukaryotes revealed the conservation of Lys40 in Alpha tubulin protein indicating its functional significance (**Fig. 24**). These results are in well-agreement with recently published study (Sadoul and Khochbin 2016).

Rattus norvegicus	MHECISIYEGOAGIOISNASWELYCLEOGIOPDGOMLSDKTIEGGDDSENTE-
Emiliania huxlevi CCMP1516	MRECITI HI GOAGIOTGNACWEI ECI EHGIOPDGOMPSDKTIGGGDDAENTEE
Zea mays	MRECISIHIGOAGIOVGNACWELYCLEHGIOADGOMPGDKTIGGGDDAENTEF
Anterva australis	
Octopus bimaculoides	
Plutella vylostella	
Amazona aestiva	
From Lucius	
Lentonychotes	
Complus forus	
Camerus_lerus	
Peromyscus_maniculatus_bairdii	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMIPSDK IIGGGDDSFNTFF
lctidomys_tridecemlineatus	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKTIGGGDDSFNTFF
Oryzias_latipes	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKTIGGGDDSFNTFF
Camelus_dromedarius	MHECISIHIGQAGVQISNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKAIGAGDNSFNTFF
Alpha_TUB_Homo_sapiens	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKTIGGGDDSFNTFF
Panthera_tigris_altaica	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKTIGGGDDSFNTFF
Pongo_abelii	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKTIGGGDDSFNTFF
Ceratotherium_simum_simum	GGGDDSFNTFF
Dendroctonus_ponderosae	GGGDDSFNTFF
Charadrius_vociferus	GGGDDSFNTFF
Fukomys_damarensis	MRECISIHVGQAGVQIGNACWELYCLEHGIQPDGQMPSDKTIGGGDDSFNTFF
Vicugna_pacos	GGGDDSFNTFF

*Figure 24. Sequence Analysis of Alpha tubulin in some eukaryotes: Lys40 position was found to be conserved in eukaryotes.* 

The functional conserved domain analysis of tubulins using Pfam database revealed two types of domains: Tubulin and Tubulin\_C. Domain identification in protein sequences helps in the classification of proteins into families by predicting the function and structures. It has been observed that Tubulin and Tubulin\_C domains in alpha, beta and gamma-tubulins are conserved (**Fig. 25**) and can be involved in similar function.



Tubulin-C domain--magenta

*Figure 25. Functional conserved domain analysis of alpha, beta & gamma tubulin with Pfam database: Tubulin and tubulin\_c domains in alpha, beta and gamma-tubulins are conserved and can be involved in similar function.* 

## **3.2.2** Alpha tubulin is conserved in different groups of eukaryotes

As Lys40 position was conserved among eukaryotes, we then analysed for evolutionary relationships of alpha tubulin in eukaryotes. For this, we have carried out phylogenetic analysis. All the major groups of eukaryotes for alpha tubulin were recovered with good bootstrap support. The monophyletic group of Fungi, Telonemids, Cryptophytes, Haptophytes was recovered with >70% of BV at the nodes. Opisthoknots showed a polyphyletic nature. However, most of internal groups were recovered with good phylogenetic signal. Other groups such as Stramenophiles, Discricristates were also found to be polyphyletic. Discricristates were associated with BV= 90% while few phyla in Stramenophiles were associated with BV= 90%. Archaeplastida were associated with Rhizaria with BV >50%.

Alveolus's also formed a sister clade with Archaeplastida and Rhizaria. However, the internal groups were present within the group with BV>50%. Thus, the major groups of eukaryotes for alpha tubulin were recovered and the results are in agreement with previously published studies. The phylogenetic signal is conserved in major groups of alpha-tubulin proteins (**Fig. 26**).



*Figure 26. Phylogenetic tree analysis of Alpha tubulin using PhyML v. 3.0*: The phylogenetic signal is conserved in major groups of Alpha tubulin among different groups of eukaryotes.

## 3.2.3 Generated 3D structure of Alpha tubulin by homology modelling

The functionally conserved K40 acetylation of Alpha tubulin and lysine deacetylase function of HDAC8 interested us to further evaluate the interaction of alpha tubulin and HDAC8. We used *in silico* approach to first confirm the protein-protein interaction. Since the crystal structure of Alpha tubulin of human was not available, a homology model was generated using I-D TASSER using 4I4T\_A as the template structure. 4I4T\_A is crystal structure of tubulin-RB3-TTL-Zampanolide complex from *Bos Taurus* (Prota, Bargsten et al. 2013). It is a hexamer; therefore, Chain A was taken for modeling. The overall 3-D (three dimensional) structural arrangement of the crystal structure and model is conserved (**Fig. 27**).



*Figure 27. Homology modelling of alpha tubulin:* 3D crystal structures (generated by homology modelling) based on its template structure, i.e. (*PDB ID: 4I4T*), which is Crystal structure of tubulin-RB3-TTL-Zampanolide complex from Bos taurus. Superimposition of alpha tubulin-c with 414\_t. Alpha tubulin is shown in magenta; 414T\_A is shown in cyan.

More than 75% amino acid residues in the model were in the allowed regions of the Ramachandran plot (**Fig. 28 a & b**) (Ramachandran, Ramakrishnan et al. 1963).



a

*Figure 28. Ramachandran plot: (a). Ramachandran plot model for chain a – alpha tubulin. (b). More than 75% amino acid residues in model are in the allowed regions of the Ramachandran plot.* 

# b

Plot statistics		
Residues in most favoured regions [A,B,L]	217	75.6%
Residues in additional allowed regions [a,b,l,p]	55	19.2%
Residues in generously allowed regions [~a,~b,~l,~p]	9	3.1%
Residues in disallowed regions	6	2.1%
Number of non-glycine and non-proline residues	287	100.0%
Number of end-residues (excl. Gly and Pro)	2	
Number of glycine residues (shown as triangles)	20	
Number of proline residues	16	
Total number of residues	325	

According to Verify-3D, the overall quality of the model was found to be 96.5% and ERRAT program shown that 71% residues had an average 3D-1D score  $\geq 0.2$  (Fig. 29). The RMSD between the template structure and model was 1.29 Å. C-score and TM-score were found to be 0.55 and 0.95 respectively within the acceptable ranges validating the model generated.



*Figure 29. Structural validation by ERRAT:* Overall quality of the model was found to be 96.5% and ERRAT program shown that 71 % residues had an averaged 3D-1D score >= 0.

# 3.2.4 Lys40 of Alpha tubulin interacts specifically with Pro205 of HDAC8

Protein-protein interaction studies of the tubulin proteins were carried out using HDAC8 (PDB ID: 1W22\_A). The Alpha-tubulin model showed an interaction of Lys40 with Pro205 of HDAC8, including the IIe225, Val223, Tyr227 with Tyr225, Lys374, Asn372 and Tyr368 of alpha-tubulin and HDAC8 respectively. Out of Val223, Ile225 and Tyr227 residues of Alpha tubulin, it was observed that only Ile225 of Alpha tubulin is interacting with Tyr225 residue of HDAC8 (Catalytic region). As per interacting residues of HDAC8, Pro205 and Tyr225 residues belong to histone deacetylase catalytic domain (**Fig. 30 a**).

C



Alpha tubulin: Designed model using 4I4T A as the template structure

#### **Over all Interacting residues**

HDAC8 Alpha-tubulin-1C
Pro205Lys40
Tyr227Tyr368
Arg353Pro226
Lys 374Val223
Arg356Tyr227
Glu335Thr95



Beta tubulin: PDB ID: 2XRP\_A

#### **Over all Interacting residues**

HDAC8	Beta-tubulin
Leu308	Try344
Cys275	Val258
Arg356	Pro160

Gamma tubulin: PDB ID: 3CB2\_A

#### **Over all Interacting residues**

HDAC8	Gamma-tubulin
Tyr100	Glu327
Ser150	Ala370
Pro273	Tyr82



Figure 30. Protein protein interaction studies of HDAC8 with Alpha, Beta and Gamma tubulins: (a, b &c). Hbonding interactions of HDAC8 with alpha, beta and gamma tubulins. Interacting residues are listed below the figure. Alpha tubulin is shown in pink; HDAC8 in blue; h-bonding shown in green lines, HDAC8 is shown in yellow, beta tubulin in green, HDAC8 is shown in yellow and gamma tubulin in orange brown. (d). Lys40 of Alpha tubulin (Catalytic region of alpha tubulin) interacting with Pro205 of HDAC8 (Catalytic region of HDAC8) Alpha tubulin is shown in pink; HDAC8 in blue.

With respect to the beta-tubulin (PDB id: 2XRP\_A), the residues Pro160, Val258, Trp344,

Asn347 of beta-tubulin were found to be interacting with Arg356, Cys275, Leu308, Lys33 of

HDAC8 respectively (Fig. 30 b). Gamma-tubulin residues such as Tyr82, Ala370, Glu327, Asn79,

Gln227 were found to be interacting with Pro273, Ser150, Tyr100, Cys352, Gln232 of HDAC8 (**Fig. 30 c**). Results further demonstrate that catalytic regions of alpha tubulin comprises of Lys40 residue, which is known to interact with Pro205 of HDAC8 (**Fig. 30 d**). The ZDOCK score of the tubulins are provided in table. All the Figures related to protein-protein interaction studies were generated using Discovery Studio Visualizer version 4.1.

Table	2:	ZDO	CK	score	for	alnha	beta	and	gamma	tubulins	interaction	s with	HDAC8
lanc	<i>4</i> •			SCULC	101	aipna	, Deta	anu	gamma	lubums	inter action		IIDACO

S.No	Protein Name	S <sub>DS</sub> (kcal/mol)	S <sub>ELEC</sub> (k Cal/mol)	RMSD (Å)
1	Alpha tubulin	-2.09	-2.73	1.45
2	Beta tubulin	-3.14	-2.73	1.45
3	Gamma tubulin	-2.87	0.10	1.55

Further *in silico* mutational studies were carried out to confirm the interaction between Lys 40 of Alpha tubulin and Pro205 of HDAC8. Mutation of Lys to Arg in Alpha tubulin and Pro to Ala in HDAC8 lead to loss of interaction between the two proteins and confirm their interaction.

Protein-protein interaction studies, with all the three forms of tubulins further validated the importance of alpha tubulin with higher number of interactions, especially Lys40 (a potential

acetylation site) of alpha tubulin (catalytic region) with that of Pro205 of HDAC8 (catalytic region). Importance of Lys40 position for its potential interaction with HDAC8 was further validated by *in silico* mutational analysis (Lys40 to Arg in alpha tubulin & Pro205 to Ala in HDAC8) which revealed loss of interaction between two proteins.

## 3.3 In vitro

# 3.3.1 Cloned, expressed and purified active hHDAC8 from bacterial system

For *in vitro* binding assays, we have cloned hHDAC8 considering K562 cDNA as a template for HDAC8. The human HDAC8 gene was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) from human cDNA K562 cell line (**Fig. 31 b**). Amplified product was cloned into  $p^{GEX} - 6p1$  plasmid. Positive clones ( $p^{GEX} - 6p1$  HDAC8) were further confirmed by colony PCR (**Fig. 31 c**), followed by restriction digestion for product linearization and product release using Xho1 and EcoR1 restriction enzymes (**Fig. 31 d**).



Figure 31. Cloning of hHDAC8 into pGEX-6p1 plasmid: a. p<sup>GEX</sup>-6p1 vector (4.9 kb) was used for cloning hHDAC8. b. HDAC8 was PCR amplified at 1.2 kb. Lane 1 represents for PCR sample 1, lane 2 represents for PCR sample 2, and lane 3 for 100 bp DNA ladder c. Clone confirmation by colony PCR, with a product length of 1.2 kb. Lane 1-6 random colonies PCR samples, lane 7 represents for NTC, lane 8 for positive control and lane 9 for 1kb ladder. d. Clone confirmation by restriction digestion. Lane 1 represents for uncut, lane 2 for Xho1 digestion with a linearized product of 6.1 kb, lane 3 for EcoR1 digestion for linearization with 6.1kb length, lane 4 indicated double digestions with insert release at 1.2kb along with 4.9 kb vector, lane 5 1 kb marker.

Upon sequence confirmation of the insert, clone was transformed into *Escherichia coli* strain BL21 cells. Protein expression and purification protocols were well standardized. Further confirmation of the purity of the purified protein was carried out by SDS-PAGE with Coomassie staining, which depicts >80% pure followed by Western blot confirmation (**Fig. 32 a&b**).



Figure 32. Expression and purification of active hHDAC8 from bacterial system: a. 12% SDS-PAGE Coomassie stained gel for bacterially purified hHDAC8 with GST column. Lane 1 represents for protein marker, lane 2 flow through, lane 3-9 elution's showing ~69 kDa of purified protein (GST-HDAC8). b. Western blots result for crude lysate and purified GST-HDAC8.

Enzyme activity assay demonstrates the specific activity of purified protein (GST-HDAC8) in presence and absence of specific HDAC8 inhibitor (PCI-34051) (**Fig. 33**). HDAC8 is the only deacetylase enzyme, which is known to be active when purified from bacterial system.



**Figure 33.** Enzyme activity assay for hHDAC8 purified from bacterial system: HDAC8 enzyme activity assay representing arbitrary fluorescence units (a.f.u) for blank (only assay buffer), positive control as HeLa nuclear extract, along with crude, flow through and elution samples with/without PCI-34051(10µM). Equal concentration of protein was considered for all the samples (5µg).

# **3.3.2** Both acetylated and unacetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin binds with GST-HDAC8 - Surface plasmon resonance studies

*In vitro* binding studies were performed for GST-HDAC8 (recombinant purified protein) and alpha tubulin peptides (ac, unac) using SPR (surface plasmon resonance). Surface plasmon resonance is a widely used methodology for studying molecular interactions and binding of proteins and/or small molecule (Schuck 1997, Ramakrishnan, Drescher et al. 2006). SPR allows real time label free detection of biomolecular interactions. It works on the principle of measure of plasmon, which are electron charge density waves, generated due to hitting of polarized light on electrically conducting surface at the interface between two media. It is an optical technique, used to study the interactions between two different molecules, in which one is in mobile phase (analyte), and the other molecule is fixed on the gold film (Schuck 1997).

Initial binding and stability of GST-HDAC8 were significant with good range of response unit values (R.U) in both FC-1 and FC-2 regions of CM5 chip. (**Fig. 34 A, B (a, b &c)**) The details of the binding and stability response units for three concentrations of GST-HDAC8 are provided in **Table 3, 4 & 5**. Further binding studies were carried out with the highest concentration of 6  $\mu$ g/mL of GST-HDAC8.



*Figure 34. Binding studies of GST-HDAC8 and alpha tubulin peptides by SPR: A, B (a).GST Antibody (25µg/mL) immobilization in FC-1&2 regions of CM5 chip. A, B (b). Binding response for GST-HDAC8 on immobilized GST Antibody with acceptable response units in both FC 1&2 regions.* 



*A*, *B*(*c*). Graphical representation of the stability analysis of GST Ab & GST-HDAC8 protein (2, 4 &6 μg/mL concentrations) along with details of response units in the table included. *C*. Binding studies of GST-HDAC8 with acetylated and unacetylated alpha tubulin peptides with 500nM, 5 μM, and 50μM concentrations. 500nM concentration from both the peptides displayed acceptable range of binding response units with GST-HDAC8.

Results from SPR analysis demonstrate the binding of both acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin peptide and unacetylated alpha tubulin peptide (with maximum RU units these results gives us a preliminary report for our study that both the forms of alpha tubulins (acetylated and unacetylated) are known to interact with HDAC8.

		Assay Step			RelResp
Cycle #	Curve	Purpose	Sample Name	Report Point	(RU)
1	FC=1	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	39
2	FC=1	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	4.5
3	FC=1	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	8.7
4	FC=1	Sample	GST HDAC8 2 µg/mL	binding	193.2
5	FC=1	Sample	GST HDAC8 4 µg/mL	binding	307.9
6	FC=1	Sample	GST HDAC8 6 µg/mL	binding	460.5

# Table 3: Binding details of GST-HDAC8 in FC-1 region of CM5 chip

# Table 4: Binding details of GST-HDAC8 in FC-2 region of CM5 chip

Cycle #	Curve	Assay Step Purpose	Sample Name	Report Point	RelResp (RU)
1	Fc=2	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	29.1
2	Fc=2	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	2.8
3	Fc=2	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	6.9
4	Fc=2	Sample	GST HDAC8 2 µg/mL	binding	189.3
5	Fc=2	Sample	GST HDAC8 4 µg/mL	binding	301.9
6	Fc=2	Sample	GST HDAC8 µg/mL	binding	453.3

		Assay Step		Report	
Cycle #	Curve	Purpose	Sample Name	Point	RelResp (RU)
1	FC=2	Start-Up	HBS-EP	stability	30.2
2	FC=2	Start-Up	HBS-EP	stability	1.8
3	FC=2	Start-Up	HBS-EP	stability	2.1
4	FC=2	Sample	GST HDAC8 2 µg/mL	stability	8.5
5	FC=2	Sample	GST HDAC8 4 µg/mL	stability	12.3
6	FC=2	Sample	GST HDAC8 6 µg/mL	stability	16.2

# Table 5: Stability details of GST-HDAC8 in FC-2 region of CM5 chip

# Table 6: Binding details of Unac & ac- alpha tubulin peptides with immobilized GST-HDAC8

Cycle #	Curve	Assay Step Purpose	Sample Name	Report Point	RelResp (RU)
1	Fc=2-1	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	-0.3
2	Fc=2-1	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	-0.3
3	Fc=2-1	Start-Up	HBS-EP	binding	-0.5
4	Fc=2-1	Sample	Unacetylated peptide 500nM	binding	5.8
5	Fc=2-1	Sample	Unacetylated peptide 5uM	binding	-0.5
6	Fc=2-1	Sample	Unacetylated peptide 50uM	binding	0.1
7	Fc=2-1	Sample	Acetylated peptide 500nM	binding	6.8
8	Fc=2-1	Sample	Acetylated peptide 5uM	binding	-0.5
9	Fc=2-1	Sample	Acetylated peptide 50uM	binding	0.4

# 3.3.3 Binding of ac-alpha tubulin to HDAC8 decreases intrinsic fluorescence

Further we have performed fluorescence spectroscopy analysis to understand the binding of GST-HDAC8 and peptides time dependently (5-30 min, conditions similar to that of HDAC8 enzymatic assay). Fluorescence spectrometry is widely used in studying the molecular (binding information) and structural changes in the protein, which is affected by either protein-protein interaction or protein with small molecule interactions. The significant change which occurs around the microenvironment of the aromatic amino acids like Trp, Tyr and Phe are known to induce changes in the intrinsic fluorescence emission properties of the protein, which are measured and analyzed (Ying, Huang et al. 2015). HDAC8 has Trp-4, Phe-13, and Tyr-21 residues respectively. Results clearly demonstrate decrease of intrinsic fluorescence in GST-HDAC8 in presence of acetylated alpha tubulin peptide (Lys40), which is due to change in its amino acid microenvironment thereby leading to decrease the intrinsic fluorescence of GST-HDAC8. The decrease in the fluorescence clearly defines the HDAC8 enzyme activity reaction in *in vitro* conditions, when compared to unacetylated alpha tubulin where there was no change in the fluorescence (**Fig. 35 a&b**).



Figure 35. Binding studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin peptides (ac & Unac forms): a. Fluorescence emission spectra analysis. (a) Change in fluorescence intensities of GST-HDAC8 with acetylated alpha tubulin peptide at different time points from A-5min, B-10min, C-15min, D-20min, E-25min, F-30min in MilliQ water. Arrow indicates decrease in intrinsic fluorescence upon increased time of incubation. b. Fluorescence spectra of GST-HDAC8 with unacetylated alpha tubulin peptide with no major changes in the absorption upon increase in time.

# **3.3.4** Circular Dichroism studies – Binding of ac-alpha tubulin peptide (Lys40) with GST-HDAC8 leads to conformational changes in the secondary structure of GST-HDAC8.

One of the best spectroscopic methods to understand and study the protein-protein interactions in solution is circular dichroism (CD). It is a very well-known method to address the secondary structure, binding affinities and changes in the conformation of the protein in a solution. It is a quantitative technique; the protein-protein interactions that occur due to the complexes formed is directly proportional to the CD spectra. These changes in the binding affinities are further used to calculate the binding constants of a protein. CD in the far UV region (170-260 nm) arises due to the amide of the protein backbone. Whereas the spectra from 350-260 nm and visible regions arise from aromatic and prosthetic groups (Greenfield 2004). As we have confirmed the binding of GST-HDAC8 with acetylated peptide, then we have performed circular dichroism studies to understand the structural changes of peptides and GST-HDAC8 binding.

Interestingly results from CD spectra analysis demonstrated a significant change in the secondary structure of GST-HDAC8, when incubated with ac-alpha tubulin; however there was an imperceptible change with unacetylated peptide (**Fig. 36**).





# 3.3.5 HDAC8 co-localizes with acetylated alpha tubulin in HeLa and HEK 293T

Results from our *in silico* and binding studies have confirmed the interaction of HDAC8 with alpha tubulin & acetylated alpha tubulin peptide. Acetylated alpha tubulin form is found to bind more significantly compared to unacetylated form. As evident from the results of circular dichroism studies, there is a clear change in the secondary structure of GST-HDAC8. To further validate the functional interaction we carried out IP and co-IP experiments with HDAC8 and acetylated alpha tubulin (ac-tubulin) antibodies. The immunoblots clearly showed the HDAC8 and ac-tubulin interaction (**Fig. 37**).



Figure 37. HDAC8 interacts with ac-alpha tubulin: HDAC8 and Acetylated Alpha tubulin Interaction in HeLa and HEK 293T cells as demonstrated by immunoprecipitation using HDAC8 antibody followed by immunoblot analysis using ac-alpha tubulin.

Co-localization studies of HDAC8 & ac-alpha tubulin in HeLa and HEK 293T affirms their association and signifies their functional role together. PCI-34051 treatment significantly decreased the levels of HDAC8, which in turn affected the association of acetylated alpha tubulin to a greater extent in HeLa (**Fig. 38**) when compared to HEK 293T (**Fig. 39**).



*Figure 38. HDAC8 co-localizes with ac-alpha tubulin in HeLa cells:* Confocal studies demonstrate colocalization of HDAC8 & ac-alpha tubulin in HeLa PCI-34051(20  $\mu$ M) for 4 hrs treated condition affected the co-localization.



Figure 39. HDAC8 co-localizes with ac-alpha tubulin in HEK 293T cells: Confocal studies demonstrate colocalization of HDAC8 & ac-alpha tubulin in HeLa PCI-34051(20  $\mu$ M) for 4 hrs treated condition affected the co-localization.


#### 3.3.6 HDAC8 inhibition increases acetylation of alpha tubulin in vitro:

Further, we have performed functional characterization of HDAC8 and alpha tubulin interaction. Our results clearly support the data from earlier experiments. Increased levels of acalpha tubulin were observed, in forskolin and PCI-34051 treated condition in both HeLa and HEK 293T cells suggesting the importance of HDAC8 in deacetylating acetylated alpha tubulin (**Fig. 40**) further validating it as a novel substrate for HDAC8, in addition to HDAC6, which is an established tubulin deacetylase and known to be a target in many of the cancers (Ding, Ping et al. 2014, Seidel, Schnekenburger et al. 2016).



HeLa



Figure 40. HDAC8 regulates ac-alpha tubulin levels in vitro: ac-alpha tubulin levels increase when HDAC8 is inhibited with PCI-34051 (20  $\mu$ M) or when treated with PKA activator, Forskolin (10  $\mu$ M) and in HeLa and HEK 293T cells.



*Figure 40.* Densitometry analysis of the immunoblot bands showing fold change in expression pattern of HDAC8, Alpha tubulin and acetylated tubulin normalized with GAPDH. p value<0.0001 in HeLa (a) and HEK 293T (b).

#### 3.3.7 GST-HDAC8 deacetylates ac-alpha tubulin in vitro: HPLC studies

HDAC8 enzyme activity studies performed with recombinantly expressed and purified protein displayed deacetylation and peptide substrate selectivity even in the absence of additional cofactors (Buggy, Sideris et al. 2000, Hu, Chen et al. 2000, Schultz, Misialek et al. 2004, Gantt, Gattis et al. 2006, Riester, Hildmann et al. 2007, Smith and Denu 2007, Dowling, Gantt et al. 2008, Gurard-Levin and Mrksich 2008, Dowling, Gattis et al. 2010, Gantt, Joseph et al. 2010, Gurard-Levin, Kilian et al. 2010, Haider, Joseph et al. 2011) clearly suggests that HDAC8 has a potential to catalyze *in vivo* deacetylation of other protein in absence of protein complex.

Data from other studies demonstrate that other class I HDAC's like HDAC1, 2, and 3 are known to form complexes and their activity in turn depends on the combination of varied proteins which were incorporated into their complexes (Sengupta and Seto 2004). The specificity and function of these HDAC isozymes are altered by the range of complexes formed by other proteins (Hayakawa and Nakayama 2011).

HDAC8 is phylogenetically most similar to the other class I HDACs, divergent evolution [20] may have altered how HDAC8 interacts with cofactors, possibly allowing this isozyme to function independent of other proteins.

To further confirm the deacetylation of ac-tubulin by HDAC8, we carried out HPLC-based deacetylation assay. Unacetylated alpha tubulin peptide was observed with a retention time of 14.70, acetylated alpha tubulin with 15.37, and GST-HDAC8+acetylated alpha tubulin (Lys40) with a retention time of 14.72, which was equivalent to that of unacetylated peptide. Thus, the significant shift in the peak of acetylated alpha tubulin (Lys40) when incubated with GST-HDAC8 clearly corresponds to the deacetylation and confirms HDAC8 as a tubulin deacetylase (**Fig. 41**).



**Figure 41. HDAC8 deacetylates ac-alpha tubulin in vitro**: Lower panel of chromatogram represents for Unac-alpha tubulin peptide with a retention time of 14.70 Min. Middle panel of chromatogram for acalpha tubulin with retention time of 15.37 Min. Upper panel of chromatogram for GST-HDAC8 (30 μg) + ac-alpha tubulin (500nM) with a retention time of 14.72 Min. Shift in the retention time from a (15.37) to b (14.72) clearly demonstrates the in vitro deacetylation of ac-alpha tubulin by GST-HDAC8

#### 3.3.8 HDAC8 might be primary tubulin deacetylase in HeLa cells

In order to determine the cell type specificity of HDAC8 expression in different cancer cell lines, we have evaluated the expression of HDAC6 and HDAC8 in HEK 293T (human embryonic kidney cells), HeLa (cervical adenocarcinoma), MDA-MB 231(breast adenocarcinoma), A549 (adenocarcinoma human alveolar basal epithelial cells), K562 (chronic myelogenous leukemia), HCT11 (colorectral carcinoma- epithelial) cell lines. Results demonstrated that there was no significant difference in HDAC6 expression, when compared between HEK 293T (Control), HeLa (Cervical cancer) and HCT11 (Colon cancer). Whereas, A549 (Lung cancer), K562 (CML) and MDA-MB 231(Breast cancer) have shown two fold higher expression when compared to control (HEK 293T) (Fig. 42 a&b).

HDAC8 is over expressed in HeLa, A549 and HCT11 compared to control HEK 293T (**Fig. 42 a&c**). HDAC6 is a very well-known deacetylase for ac-alpha tubulin (Hubbert, Guardiola et al. 2002). Based upon the expression pattern of HDAC6 in different cancer cell lines, we presume its role in deacetylating ac-alpha tubulin in HeLa might be taken over by HDAC8 due to its significant overexpression compared to HDAC6.



Figure 42. Expression studies of HDAC6 & HDAC8 in different cancer cells: a. Immunoblot for HDAC6 & HDAC8 expression in HEK 293T, HeLa, HCT11, A549, K562 and MDAMB 231. (b). Denistometry graph for HDAC6 expression upon normalization with GAPDH, (c). Graph for fold change expression of HDAC8 protein in different cancer and HEK 293T cells, normalized with GAPDH

To address the cell type specific role of HDAC6 in HEK 293T and HeLa, we have evaluated mRNA and protein levels and HDAC activity. Real time PCR analysis, immunoblot analysis and HDAC activity assay clearly demonstrated the dominance of HDAC8 in HeLa cells when compared to normal HEK 293T. On the other hand, there was no significant difference in the HDAC6 expression levels in HeLa and HEK 293T cells (**Fig. 43 a, b, c & d**). These results indicate that HDAC6 might be primary tubulin deacetylase; however, the increased HDAC8 in HeLa cells might be taking over the function of HDAC6 as tubulin deacetylase.



*Figure 43. HDAC8 & HDAC6 expression studies in HeLa & HEK 293T cells: a. Real time analysis confirms higher HDAC8 expression compared to HDAC6 in HeLa and HEK 293T normalized with GAPDH \* indicates p-value <0.001.* 



*b.* Protein expression pattern of HDAC8, HDAC6, ac- alpha tubulin, alpha tubulin along with GAPDH in HeLa and HEK 293T. *c.* HDAC8 and HDAC6 expression was normalized with GAPDH control. HEK 293T has lower expression of HDAC8 compared to HeLa, whereas, there is no difference in the expression pattern of HDAC6 in both the cells.



*d.* HDAC enzyme activity assay performed with IP Anti-HDAC8 & IP Anti-HDAC6 with HeLa &HEK 293T lysates respectively. \* indicates p-value <0.0001.

Next we tried to determine the effect of HDAC8 and HDAC6 expression on acetylation of tubulin in HEK293T and HeLa cells using specific inhibitor, PCI-34051, Tubastatin and in combination (PCI-34051 + Tubastatin). The increased acetylated alpha tubulin levels in HeLa under PCI-34051 treated conditions when compared to control, clearly demonstrates the possible role of HDAC8 as tubulin deacetylase in HeLa (**Fig. 44 a & b**).

The combination treatment (upon inhibition of both HDAC6 & HDAC8) have shown a clear impact on acetylation of alpha tubulin, which can be explained due to the synergistic effect of dual inhibition of HDAC6 & 8. In HEK 293T there was no significant increase in PCI-34051 treated condition, whereas dual inhibition of HDAC6 & HDAC8 have shown a positive effect in enhancing the acetylation of alpha tubulin (**Fig. 44 a & c**).



Hela

**HEK 293T** 



Figure 44. HDAC8 is the primary tubulin deacetylase in HeLa: a. Significant increase in ac-alpha tubulin levels were observed in presence of PCI-34051 (20 μM), and combination (PCI-34051 20 μM +Tubastatin 5 μM) when compared to control, \* indicates p-value < 0.05, (p=0.0004) and tubastatin alone treated condition in HeLa whereas only tubastatin (5 μM) & combination (PCI-34051 20 μM +Tubastatin 5 μM) \* indicates p-value < 0.05, (p=0.0118) treatment in HEK 293T increased ac-alpha tubulin levels compared to PCI-34051 (20 μM) which were insignificant. (b&c). Densitometry for ac-alpha tubulin levels normalized with GAPDH in HeLa and HEK 293T.</li>

Further we examined the effect of acetylation pattern of alpha tubulin by knockdown studies using HDAC8 siRNA in both HeLa and HEK 293T. Real time PCR data confirms the decreased mRNA expression of HDAC8 in both the cell lines (**Fig. 45 a&b**). Immunoblot results clearly demonstrated the impact on acetylation pattern of alpha tubulin in both the cell lines (**Fig.** 

## Results and discussion 90

**45 c&d**). This significant increment in the acetylation of alpha tubulin in HDAC8 KD (siRNA knockdown) samples when compared to control, justifies the role of HDAC8 as one of the possible deacetylase in HeLa but not HEK 293T.



Figure 45. siRNA knockdown of HDAC8 increases ac-alpha tubulin levels: a&b. HDAC8 Knockdown (siRNA) studies demonstrating significant decrease in mRNA expression of HDAC8 in HeLa along with comparable decrease in HEK 293T.



(c). Significant (\* indicates p value = 0.0004 < 0.05) decrease in HDAC8 protein and increase of acetylated alpha tubulin levels in HDAC8 KD (HDAC8 siRNA transfected) samples, when compared to control (untransfected), in HeLa justifies ac-alpha tubulin as one of its potent substrate. (d). Comparable difference in HDAC8 expression and ac- alpha tubulin levels were observed in HEK 293T (HDAC8 KD) samples compared to control (\* indicates p value = 0.0296 < 0.05)

Finally, IP and reverse-IP results of HDAC8 and HDAC6 in HeLa and HEK 293T further demonstrate their independent mode of activity (**Fig. 46**).



*Figure 46. HDAC8 and HDAC6 does not co-precipitate with each other: IP-Co-IP studies of HDAC8 & HDAC6 in HeLa and HEK 293T.* 

# Objective 3:

Functional characterization studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin interactions in vitro



#### 3.4.1 HDAC8 alters Alpha tubulin functionality

Tubulins are one of the major cytoskeletal proteins and consist of alpha, beta and gamma tubulin proteins in the family (Williams, Shah et al. 1999, Akhshi, Wernike et al. 2014). Acetylated alpha tubulin is known to stabilize microtubules and effect intracellular transport, cell migration (Akhshi, Wernike et al. 2014) and is the primary determinant for cell morphology (John H. Byrne 2014). In view of alpha-tubulin's role in cell migration and maintaining cell morphology, we further characterized the significant role of HDAC8 and ac-tubulin interaction in cell migration and cell morphology analysis. HDAC8 inhibition impedes the migration property in HeLa in turn affecting the morphology. The effect was quite comparable to that of paclitaxel-treated condition which was considered as a positive control for tubulin inhibition. This can be explained due to the functional role of HDAC8 in deacetylating the acetylated alpha tubulin, which is considered as a mark for stabilization of microtubules. Degree of tubulin acetylation is also known to affect the cell motility by altering the microtubule dynamics (Palazzo, Ackerman et al. 2003). The results clearly demonstrated that when HDAC8 is inhibited with PCI-34051 the cell migration was inhibited up to 48 hrs with a notable decrease in cell size (**Fig. 47 a&b**).



**Figure 47. HDAC8 inhibition affects cell migration in HeLa: a.** Cell Migration Assay in HeLa cells in absence or presence of PCI-34051 (10μM) or Paclitaxel (10μM) Migration efficiency: Control>>Paclitaxel>PCI-34051. b. Cell Migration Assay in HeLa cells in absence or presence of PCI-34051 (20μM) or Paclitaxel (20μM).

#### **3.4.2 Inhibition of HDAC8 affects the cytoskeletal machinery**

Acetylated tubulin is known to stabilize microtubules and effect intracellular transport, cell migration (Akhshi, Wernike et al. 2014) and primary determinant for cell morphology (John H. Byrne 2014). Degree of tubulin acetylation is also known to affect the cell motility by altering the microtubule dynamics (Palazzo, Ackerman et al. 2003). To further validate the difference in the cell morphology, HeLa and HEK 293T cells were treated with PCI-34051 and Paclitaxel for 24 and 48 hrs. A clear distinguished difference in the cell morphology, with decreased cell size (shrinking) in HeLa, and cell aggregation in HEK 293T was observed in both treated conditions when compared with control (**Fig. 48 a&b**). Shrinkage of cell size in HeLa and clump formation in HEK 293T may be due to disruption in the cytoskeletal machinery in maintaining cell structure. Paclitaxel, an inhibitor of tubulin polymerization, treatment was considered as positive control.



**Figure 48. HDAC8 inhibition affects cell morphology in HeLa and HEK 293T:** a. Cell morphology analysis demonstrating reduced (shrinking) cell size of HeLa with PCI-34051 (20μM) or Paclitaxel (20μM) at 24 & 48 hrs. b. Cell morphology analysis in HEK 293T cells representing clump formation with PCI-34051 (20μM) or Paclitaxel (20μM) at 24 & 48 hrs signifying role of HDAC8 in microtubule organization.

#### 3.4.3 HDAC8 inhibition specifically altered mitotic phase in HeLa

Owing to the important role of microtubules in cell cycle, inhibition of tubulin polymerization with inhibitors such as paclitaxel or inhibition of tubulin deacetylation results in cell-cycle arrest and cell death (Arora, Wang et al. 2009). Therefore we studied the effect of HDAC8 inhibition on tubulin polymerization and cell cycle using PCI-34051. HeLa cells treated with PCI-34051 for 48 hrs showed an increased sub G0/G1 peak along with a significant (p<0.05) reduction in mitotic phase of cell cycle when compared to untreated control clearly defining HDAC8 role as primary tubulin deacetylase (**Fig. 49 a&b**).



**Figure 49. Effect of HDAC8 Inhibition on functional role of Alpha tubulin during M-phase of cell cycle in HeLa cells**: a. Cell cycle analysis of HeLa, showing (I) control, (II) PCI-34051 (20μM) and (III) Paclitaxel (20μM) treated condition. b. Graphical representation of subG0, G0/G1, S and M phase in HeLa, deciphering significant effect of PCI-34051(20μM) on Mitotic phase. \* indicates p-value <0.05

On the other hand, HEK 293T normal cells did not show any mitotic phase reduction when HDAC8 was inhibited indicating that HDAC6 might be the primary tubulin deacetylase. However, a significant increase in the sub G0/G1 phase was observed in HEK 293T cells treated with PCI-34051 which can be attributed to the inhibition of normal physiological functions of HDAC8 (**Fig. 50 a&b**).



*Figure 50. Inhibition of HDAC8 in HEK 293T Inhibition on functional role of Alpha tubulin during M-phase of cell cycle in HEK 293T:* a. Cell cycle analysis of HeLa & HEK 293T, showing (I) control, (II) PCI-34051 (20μM) and (III) Paclitaxel (20μM) treated condition. b. Graphical representation of subG0, G0/G1, S and M phase in HeLa and HEK 293T, deciphering significant effect of PCI-34051(20μM) on Mitotic phase. \* indicates p-value <0.05





#### 4.0 Summary

4.1 Objective 1: Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a non-histone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.

Although HDAC8 is well-characterized structurally its precise cellular localization, functional role and the substrates are not known completely (Olson, Udeshi et al. 2014). Since HDAC8 is known to be involved in female-specific cancers such as ovary, cervical and breast (Nakagawa, Oda et al. 2007), we have used HeLa cervical cancer cells along with HEK 293T normal cells so as to get an insight on its role in normal and cancer cells.

In our study, we have confirmed major cytoplasmic localization of HDAC8 in HeLa and HEK 293T. However nucleolar localization was also observed in HeLa. Protein Kinase A is known to phosphorylate HDAC8 (pHDAC8) and in the present study we did not see any difference in the localization of pHDAC8 upon activation of PKA by forskolin. Further, enzyme activity and protein expression studies, confirmed active HDAC8 in both cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions. Interestingly, there was an increase in the enzyme activity of HDAC8 of nuclear fraction in both HeLa and HEK 293T, revealing the role of phosphorylated form of HDAC8 in nucleus. Evidence from our immunoprecipitation and MALDI TOF TOF, followed by immunoblotting studies showed Alpha tubulin as a non-histone interacting partner of HDAC8 irrespective of cancerous (HeLa) and normal cells (HEK 293T).

4.2 Objective 2: Protein-protein interaction studies of HDAC8 & Acetylated (Lys40) alpha tubulin.

This objective describes our findings with regard to *in silico* and *in vitro* interaction studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin. Clustal omega and phylogenetic analysis of alpha tubulin revealed its unique Lys40 position conserved across all major groups of eukaryotes. Protein-protein interaction studies, with all the three forms of tubulins further validated the importance of alpha tubulin (catalytic region) with that of Pro205 of HDAC8 (catalytic region). Importance of Lys40 position for its potential interaction with HDAC8 was further validated by *in silico* mutational analysis (Lys40 to Arg in alpha tubulin & Pro205 to Ala in HDAC8) which revealed loss of interaction between two proteins. Further *in vitro* binding assays were performed by Surface Plasma Resonance, Fluorescence spectroscopy and Circular dichroism. Results clearly demonstrated the importance of acetylated form of alpha tubulin peptide, which is binding, and significantly changing the secondary structure of HDAC8. Whereas, unacetylated form of alpha tubulin was ineffective.

IP and Co-IP results for acetylated alpha tubulin with HDAC8, along with functional regulation studies of acetylation levels of alpha tubulin, in presence or absence of specific HDAC8 inhibitor PCI-34051 and forskolin treated condition revealed significant increase of acetylated tubulin expression, validating it as a novel substrate for HDAC8, in addition to HDAC6, which is an established tubulin deacetylase (Ding, Ping et al. 2014, Seidel, Schnekenburger et al. 2016). Considering the positive results from our binding studies, *in vitro* HPLC-based deacetylation assay was carried out with GST-HDAC8 incubation with acetylated alpha tubulin peptide (Lys40) that clearly admits tubulin as a non-histone substrate of HDAC8.

As our results clearly demonstrate the role of HDAC8 in deacetylating acetylated alpha tubulin, question arises for the cell type specificity of HDAC6 and HDAC8. We first analyzed the expression of HDAC6 and HDAC8 in normal and cancerous cervical tissue samples in The Human Protein Atlas database and learned that HDAC6 expression is low in cervical cancer tissues when compared to normal cervix (medium expression) and that HDAC8 is overexpressed (low-medium expression) in cancerous cervix when compared to undetectable expression in normal cervix [37]. Initially we have confirmed the expression of HDAC6 in different cancer cell lines of various origins i.e., HeLa, HCT11, A549, K562 & MDAMB 231. There was no significant change in the expression of HDAC6 in between HEK 293T (normal), HeLa and HCT11 cell lines, when compared to A549, K562 & MDAMB 231. Whereas, HDAC8 expression was observed to be high in HeLa, A549, HCT11 & MDAMB 231. These immunoblot results are in comparison with human protein atlas data, suggesting tissue specific expression pattern of HDAC6 & HDAC8 in different cancer cell lines, assigning their specific/independent roles in deacetylating their target substrates. Further, results from our studies state dominant expression of HDAC8 in HeLa cells, to that of HEK 293T, when compared to HDAC6 expression which was not significant further confirms with the human protein atlas database. This increases the probability of considering HDAC8 in taking over the function of a tubulin deacetylase in HeLa, compared to HDAC6. HDAC8 inhibition (PCI-34051) contrastingly increased the acetylation of alpha tubulin in HeLa, when compared to HEK 293T. Dual inhibition of both HDAC6&8 further increased the acetylation attributing to their independent role in deacetylating acetylated alpha tubulin. HDAC8 knockdown studies, confirms the importance of HDAC8 role as one of the tubulin deacetylase in HeLa.

# **4.3.** Objective 3: Functional characterization studies of HDAC8 and Alpha tubulin interactions *in vitro*.

This part of the study clearly focuses on importance of HDAC8 in regulating the microtubule functions. The study highlights on three major functional roles of microtubules - cell migration, maintenance of cell morphology and regulation of cell cycle. Our results from cell migration assay, under HDAC8 inhibitory condition clearly defined the role of HDAC8 in regulating microtubule machinery to impede the migration in HeLa cells. Apart from significantly effecting the migration, we have also demonstrated that cell morphology of HeLa (shrinkage of treated cells) and HEK 293T (clump formation in treated cells) was affected with HDAC8 inhibition condition, equally to that of positive control paclitaxel. This can be explained due to the functional role of HDAC8 in deacetylating the acetylated alpha tubulin, which is considered as a mark for stabilization of microtubules. Degree of tubulin acetylation is also known to affect the cell motility by altering the microtubule dynamics (Palazzo, Ackerman et al. 2003). Owing to the important role of microtubules in cell cycle, inhibition of tubulin polymerization with inhibitors such as paclitaxel or inhibition of tubulin deacetylation results in cell-cycle arrest and cell death (Arora, Wang et al. 2009). Our results demonstrate the significant (p < 0.05) reduction in mitotic phase in HeLa treated with PCI-34051, when compared to HEK 293T. This justifies the role of HDAC8 in HeLa as predominant deacetylase of alpha tubulin, which is in turn involved in regulating cell cycle in G2/M phase. Whereas, no major significant change in the mitotic phase of HEK 293T condition can be explained due to the availability of HDAC6 even upon HDAC8 inhibition might be replacing the role of tubulin deacetylase.

#### **Diagrammatic representation of overall summary**



Figure 51. Schematic representation of overall summary

### **5.** Conclusions

- Localization of HDAC8 and pHDAC8 is majorly cytoplasmic.
- Identified Alpha tubulin-1C (Top score match of >56%) as one of the non-histone protein interacting partners of HDAC8 by MALDI TOF-TOF. Immunoprecipitation and Reverse Immunoprecipitation studies have confirmed the interaction of HDAC8 with alpha tubulin in both HeLa and HEK 293T cells.
- In silico studies demonstrated that Lys40 in alpha tubulin was unique conserved residue present only in alpha tubulin and known to be acetylated in cellular process. Tubulin domains in alpha, beta and gamma are conserved and can be involved in similar function. Significant zdock score confirms the interaction of HDAC8 with alpha tubulin. Lys40 of alpha-tubulin belong to tubulin catalytic domain (N-terminal region) which is interacting with Pro205 of HDAC8 catalytic domain.
- HDAC8 interacts and regulates the levels of acetylated alpha tubulin as revealed by binding and interaction studies using SPR, fluorescence spectroscopy and Circular dichroism.
- Human cancer protein atlas data analysis followed by expression studies clearly indicated dominant expression of HDAC8 in HeLa cells compared to HEK293T cells
- Further inhibitory studies of HDAC8 by PCI-34051 in HeLa cells affected cell migration and cell morphology. HDAC8 inhibition significantly altered the subG0, G0/G1 and Mitotic phase of cell cycle in HeLa cells compared to HEK 293T cells signifying the role of HDAC8 as tubulin deacetylase in HeLa.





Akhshi, T. K., D. Wernike and A. Piekny (2014). "Microtubules and actin crosstalk in cell migration and division." Cytoskeleton (Hoboken) 71(1): 1-23.

Allis, C. D., S. L. Berger, et al. (2007). "New nomenclature for chromatin-modifying enzymes." Cell 131(4): 633-636.

Allis, C. W. D. (2004). Chromatin and chromatin remodelling enzymes.

Altschul, S. F., W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers and D. J. Lipman (1990). "Basic local alignment search tool." J Mol Biol 215(3): 403-410.

Amengual, J. E., P. Johannet, et al. (2015). "Dual Targeting of Protein Degradation Pathways with the Selective HDAC6 Inhibitor ACY-1215 and Bortezomib Is Synergistic in Lymphoma." Clin Cancer Res 21(20): 4663-4675.

Arora, S., X. I. Wang, S. M. Keenan, C. Andaya, Q. Zhang, Y. Peng and W. J. Welsh (2009). "Novel microtubule polymerization inhibitor with potent antiproliferative and antitumor activity." Cancer Res 69(5): 1910-1915.

Avvakumov, N. and J. Cote (2007). "The MYST family of histone acetyltransferases and their intimate links to cancer." Oncogene 26(37): 5395-5407.

Balasubramanian, S., J. Ramos, et al. (2008). "A novel histone deacetylase 8 (HDAC8)-specific inhibitor PCI-34051 induces apoptosis in T-cell lymphomas." Leukemia 22(5): 1026-1034.

Bantscheff, M., C. Hopf, M. M. Savitski, A. Dittmann, P. Grandi, A. M. Michon, J. Schlegl, Y. Abraham, I. Becher, G. Bergamini, M. Boesche, M. Delling, B. Dumpelfeld, D. Eberhard, C. Huthmacher, T. Mathieson, D. Poeckel, V. Reader, K. Strunk, G. Sweetman, U. Kruse, G. Neubauer, N. G. Ramsden and G. Drewes (2011). "Chemoproteomics profiling of HDAC inhibitors reveals selective targeting of HDAC complexes." Nat Biotechnol 29(3): 255-265.

Baylin, S. B. and J. G. Herman (2000). "DNA hypermethylation in tumorigenesis: epigenetics joins genetics." Trends Genet 16(4): 168-174.

Bergsland, M., M. Werme, et al. (2006). "The establishment of neuronal properties is controlled by Sox4 and Sox11." Genes Dev 20(24): 3475-3486.

Bhalla, K. N. (2005). "Epigenetic and chromatin modifiers as targeted therapy of hematologic malignancies." J Clin Oncol 23(17): 3971-3993.

Bird, A. (2007). "Perceptions of epigenetics." Nature 447(7143): 396-398.

Blander, G. and L. Guarente (2004). "The Sir2 family of protein deacetylases." Annu Rev Biochem 73: 417-435.

Blum, W., R. B. Klisovic, et al. (2007). "Phase I study of decitabine alone or in combination with valproic acid in acute myeloid leukemia." J Clin Oncol 25(25): 3884-3891.

Bouras, T., M. Fu, et al. (2005). "SIRT1 deacetylation and repression of p300 involves lysine residues 1020/1024 within the cell cycle regulatory domain 1." J Biol Chem 280(11): 10264-10276.

Buggy, J. J., M. L. Sideris, et al. (2000). "Cloning and characterization of a novel human histone deacetylase, HDAC8." Biochem J 350 Pt 1: 199-205.

Buggy, J. J., M. L. Sideris, P. Mak, D. D. Lorimer, B. McIntosh and J. M. Clark (2000). "Cloning and characterization of a novel human histone deacetylase, HDAC8." Biochem J 350 Pt 1: 199-205.

Canella, A., H. Cordero Nieves, et al. (2015). "HDAC inhibitor AR-42 decreases CD44 expression and sensitizes myeloma cells to lenalidomide." Oncotarget 6(31): 31134-31150.

Chakrabarti, A., I. Oehme, et al. (2015). "HDAC8: a multifaceted target for therapeutic interventions." Trends Pharmacol Sci 36(7): 481-492.

Chen, H. S., P. Wikramasinghe, L. Showe and P. M. Lieberman (2012). "Cohesins repress Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus immediate early gene transcription during latency." J Virol 86(17): 9454-9464.

Choi, J. H., H. J. Kwon, et al. (2001). "Expression profile of histone deacetylase 1 in gastric cancer tissues." Jpn J Cancer Res 92(12): 1300-1304.

Choudhary, C., C. Kumar, et al. (2009). "Lysine acetylation targets protein complexes and co-regulates major cellular functions." Science 325(5942): 834-840.

Colovos, C. and T. O. Yeates (1993). "Verification of protein structures: patterns of nonbonded atomic interactions." Protein Sci 2(9): 1511-1519.

de Ruijter, A. J., A. H. van Gennip, et al. (2003). "Histone deacetylases (HDACs): characterization of the classical HDAC family." Biochem J 370(Pt 3): 737-749.

de Vries, E., D. M. Tscherne, et al. (2011). "Dissection of the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative entry pathway." PLoS Pathog 7(3): e1001329.

Deardorff, M. A., M. Bando, et al. (2012). "HDAC8 mutations in Cornelia de Lange syndrome affect the cohesin acetylation cycle." Nature 489(7415): 313-317.

Deardorff, M. A., M. Bando, R. Nakato, E. Watrin, T. Itoh, M. Minamino, K. Saitoh, M. Komata, Y. Katou, D. Clark, K. E. Cole, E. De Baere, C. Decroos, N. Di Donato, S. Ernst, L. J. Francey, Y. Gyftodimou, K. Hirashima, M. Hullings, Y. Ishikawa, C. Jaulin, M. Kaur, T. Kiyono, P. M. Lombardi, L. Magnaghi-Jaulin, G. R. Mortier, N. Nozaki, M. B. Petersen, H. Seimiya, V. M. Siu, Y. Suzuki, K. Takagaki, J. J. Wilde, P. J. Willems, C. Prigent, G. Gillessen-Kaesbach, D. W. Christianson, F. J. Kaiser, L. G. Jackson, T. Hirota, I. D. Krantz and K. Shirahige (2012). "HDAC8 mutations in Cornelia de Lange syndrome affect the cohesin acetylation cycle." Nature 489(7415): 313-317.

Ding, N., L. Ping, L. Feng, X. Zheng, Y. Song and J. Zhu (2014). "Histone deacetylase 6 activity is critical for the metastasis of Burkitt's lymphoma cells." Cancer Cell Int 14(1): 139.

Donze, O. and D. Picard (2002). "RNA interference in mammalian cells using siRNAs synthesized with T7 RNA polymerase." Nucleic Acids Res 30(10): e46.

Dowling, D. P., S. G. Gattis, C. A. Fierke and D. W. Christianson (2010). "Structures of metalsubstituted human histone deacetylase 8 provide mechanistic inferences on biological function." Biochemistry 49(24): 5048-5056.

Dowling, D. P., S. G. Gattis, et al. (2010). "Structures of metal-substituted human histone deacetylase 8 provide mechanistic inferences on biological function." Biochemistry 49(24): 5048-5056.

Dowling, D. P., S. L. Gantt, et al. (2008). "Structural studies of human histone deacetylase 8 and its site-specific variants complexed with substrate and inhibitors." Biochemistry 47(51): 13554-13563.

Dowling, D. P., S. L. Gantt, S. G. Gattis, C. A. Fierke and D. W. Christianson (2008). "Structural studies of human histone deacetylase 8 and its site-specific variants complexed with substrate and inhibitors." Biochemistry 47(51): 13554-13563.

Dreiza, C. M., C. M. Brophy, P. Komalavilas, E. J. Furnish, L. Joshi, M. A. Pallero, J. E. Murphy-Ullrich, M. von Rechenberg, Y. S. Ho, B. Richardson, N. Xu, Y. Zhen, J. M. Peltier and A. Panitch (2005). "Transducible heat shock protein 20 (HSP20) phosphopeptide alters cytoskeletal dynamics." FASEB J 19(2): 261-263.

Drummond, D. C., C. O. Noble, et al. (2005). "Clinical development of histone deacetylase inhibitors as anticancer agents." Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45: 495-528.

Durst, K. L., B. Lutterbach, et al. (2003). "The inv(16) fusion protein associates with corepressors via a smooth muscle myosin heavy-chain domain." Mol Cell Biol 23(2): 607-619.

Eisen, J. A., K. S. Sweder, et al. (1995). "Evolution of the SNF2 family of proteins: subfamilies with distinct sequences and functions." Nucleic Acids Res 23(14): 2715-2723.

Finn, R. D., A. Bateman, J. Clements, P. Coggill, R. Y. Eberhardt, S. R. Eddy, A. Heger, K. Hetherington, L. Holm, J. Mistry, E. L. Sonnhammer, J. Tate and M. Punta (2014). "Pfam: the protein families database." Nucleic Acids Res 42(Database issue): D222-230.

Free, R. B., L. A. Hazelwood and D. R. Sibley (2009). "Identifying novel protein-protein interactions using co-immunoprecipitation and mass spectroscopy." Curr Protoc Neurosci Chapter 5: Unit 5 28.

Gantt, S. L., C. G. Joseph and C. A. Fierke (2010). "Activation and inhibition of histone deacetylase 8 by monovalent cations." J Biol Chem 285(9): 6036-6043.

Gantt, S. L., S. G. Gattis and C. A. Fierke (2006). "Catalytic activity and inhibition of human histone deacetylase 8 is dependent on the identity of the active site metal ion." Biochemistry 45(19): 6170-6178.

Gantt, S. L., S. G. Gattis, et al. (2006). "Catalytic activity and inhibition of human histone deacetylase 8 is dependent on the identity of the active site metal ion." Biochemistry 45(19): 6170-6178.

Gao, J., B. Siddoway, et al. (2009). "Inactivation of CREB mediated gene transcription by HDAC8 bound protein phosphatase." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 379(1): 1-5.

Gao, L., M. A. Cueto, et al. (2002). "Cloning and functional characterization of HDAC11, a novel member of the human histone deacetylase family." J Biol Chem 277(28): 25748-25755.

Garber, K. (2007). "HDAC inhibitors overcome first hurdle." Nat Biotechnol 25(1): 17-19.

Garnock-Jones, K. P. (2015). "Panobinostat: first global approval." Drugs 75(6): 695-704.

Gerber, D. E., D. A. Boothman, et al. (2015). "Phase 1 study of romidepsin plus erlotinib in advanced non-small cell lung cancer." Lung Cancer 90(3): 534-541.

Greenfield, N. J. (2004). "Circular dichroism analysis for protein-protein interactions." Methods Mol Biol 261: 55-78.

Greer, E. L. and Y. Shi (2012). "Histone methylation: a dynamic mark in health, disease and inheritance." Nat Rev Genet 13(5): 343-357.

Gregoretti, I. V., Y. M. Lee, et al. (2004). "Molecular evolution of the histone deacetylase family: functional implications of phylogenetic analysis." J Mol Biol 338(1): 17-31.

Gurard-Levin, Z. A. and M. Mrksich (2008). "The activity of HDAC8 depends on local and distal sequences of its peptide substrates." Biochemistry 47(23): 6242-6250.

Gurard-Levin, Z. A., K. A. Kilian, J. Kim, K. Bahr and M. Mrksich (2010). "Peptide arrays identify isoform-selective substrates for profiling endogenous lysine deacetylase activity." ACS Chem Biol 5(9): 863-873.

Haberland, M., M. H. Mokalled, et al. (2009). "Epigenetic control of skull morphogenesis by histone deacetylase 8." Genes Dev 23(14): 1625-1630.

Haberland, M., R. L. Montgomery, et al. (2009). "The many roles of histone deacetylases in development and physiology: implications for disease and therapy." Nat Rev Genet 10(1): 32-42.

Haider, S., C. G. Joseph, S. Neidle, C. A. Fierke and M. J. Fuchter (2011). "On the function of the internal cavity of histone deacetylase protein 8: R37 is a crucial residue for catalysis." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 21(7): 2129-2132.

Halkidou, K., L. Gaughan, et al. (2004). "Upregulation and nuclear recruitment of HDAC1 in hormone refractory prostate cancer." Prostate 59(2): 177-189.

Harakalova, M., M. J. van den Boogaard, et al. (2012). "X-exome sequencing identifies a HDAC8 variant in a large pedigree with X-linked intellectual disability, truncal obesity, gynaecomastia, hypogonadism and unusual face." J Med Genet 49(8): 539-543.

Hayakawa, T. and J. Nakayama (2011). "Physiological roles of class I HDAC complex and histone demethylase." J Biomed Biotechnol 2011: 129383.

Higuchi, T., T. Nakayama, et al. (2013). "SOX4 is a direct target gene of FRA-2 and induces expression of HDAC8 in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma." Blood 121(18): 3640-3649.

Hu, E., Z. Chen, et al. (2000). "Cloning and characterization of a novel human class I histone deacetylase that functions as a transcription repressor." J Biol Chem 275(20): 15254-15264.

Hu, E., Z. Chen, T. Fredrickson, Y. Zhu, R. Kirkpatrick, G. F. Zhang, K. Johanson, C. M. Sung, R. Liu and J. Winkler (2000). "Cloning and characterization of a novel human class I histone deacetylase that functions as a transcription repressor." J Biol Chem 275(20): 15254-15264.

Huang, B. H., M. Laban, et al. (2005). "Inhibition of histone deacetylase 2 increases apoptosis and p21Cip1/WAF1 expression, independent of histone deacetylase 1." Cell Death Differ 12(4): 395-404.

Huang, W. J., Y. C. Wang, et al. (2012). "Synthesis and biological evaluation of ortho-aryl N-hydroxycinnamides as potent histone deacetylase (HDAC) 8 isoform-selective inhibitors." ChemMedChem 7(10): 1815-1824.

Hubbert, C., A. Guardiola, R. Shao, Y. Kawaguchi, A. Ito, A. Nixon, M. Yoshida, X. F. Wang and T. P. Yao (2002). "HDAC6 is a microtubule-associated deacetylase." Nature 417(6887): 455-458.

HUGO gene nomenclature committee.

Hwang, H., T. Vreven, B. G. Pierce, J. H. Hung and Z. Weng (2010). "Performance of ZDOCK and ZRANK in CAPRI rounds 13-19." Proteins 78(15): 3104-3110.

Iizuka, M. and M. M. Smith (2003). "Functional consequences of histone modifications." Curr Opin Genet Dev 13(2): 154-160.

Jenuwein, T. and C. D. Allis (2001). "Translating the histone code." Science 293(5532): 1074-1080.

John H. Byrne, R. H., M. Neal Waxham (2014). from molecules to networks: An introduction to cellular and molecular

Johnstone, R. W. (2002). "Histone-deacetylase inhibitors: novel drugs for the treatment of cancer." Nat Rev Drug Discov 1(4): 287-299.

Kaiser, F. J., M. Ansari, et al. (2014). "Loss-of-function HDAC8 mutations cause a phenotypic spectrum of Cornelia de Lange syndrome-like features, ocular hypertelorism, large fontanelle and X-linked inheritance." Hum Mol Genet 23(11): 2888-2900.

Karolczak-Bayatti, M., M. Sweeney, J. Cheng, L. Edey, S. C. Robson, S. M. Ulrich, A. Treumann, M. J. Taggart and G. N. Europe-Finner (2011). "Acetylation of heat shock protein 20 (Hsp20) regulates human myometrial activity." J Biol Chem 286(39): 34346-34355.

Khoury, G. A., R. C. Baliban, et al. (2011). "Proteome-wide post-translational modification statistics: frequency analysis and curation of the swiss-prot database." Sci Rep 1.

Kouzarides, T. (2007). "Chromatin modifications and their function." Cell 128(4): 693-705.

Krennhrubec, K., B. L. Marshall, et al. (2007). "Design and evaluation of 'Linkerless' hydroxamic acids as selective HDAC8 inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17(10): 2874-2878.

Krennhrubec, K., B. L. Marshall, M. Hedglin, E. Verdin and S. M. Ulrich (2007). "Design and evaluation of 'Linkerless' hydroxamic acids as selective HDAC8 inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17(10): 2874-2878.

Lam, Y. W., L. Trinkle-Mulcahy and A. I. Lamond (2005). "The nucleolus." J Cell Sci 118(Pt 7): 1335-1337.

Latham, J. A. and S. Y. Dent (2007). "Cross-regulation of histone modifications." Nat Struct Mol Biol 14(11): 1017-1024.

Lee, H., N. Rezai-Zadeh and E. Seto (2004). "Negative regulation of histone deacetylase 8 activity by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A." Mol Cell Biol 24(2): 765-773.

Lee, H., N. Rezai-Zadeh and E. Seto (2004). "Negative regulation of histone deacetylase 8 activity by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A." Mol Cell Biol 24(2): 765-773.

Lee, H., N. Sengupta, A. Villagra, N. Rezai-Zadeh and E. Seto (2006). "Histone deacetylase 8 safeguards the human ever-shorter telomeres 1B (hEST1B) protein from ubiquitin-mediated degradation." Mol Cell Biol 26(14): 5259-5269.

Lee, H., N. Sengupta, et al. (2006). "Histone deacetylase 8 safeguards the human ever-shorter telomeres 1B (hEST1B) protein from ubiquitin-mediated degradation." Mol Cell Biol 26(14): 5259-5269.

Lee, K. K. and J. L. Workman (2007). "Histone acetyltransferase complexes: one size doesn't fit all." Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8(4): 284-295.

Li, J., S. Chen, R. A. Cleary, R. Wang, O. J. Gannon, E. Seto and D. D. Tang (2014). "Histone deacetylase 8 regulates cortactin deacetylation and contraction in smooth muscle tissues." Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 307(3): C288-295.

Lin, H. Y., C. S. Chen, et al. (2006). "Targeting histone deacetylase in cancer therapy." Med Res Rev 26(4): 397-413.

Liu, P., S. A. Tarle, et al. (1993). "Fusion between transcription factor CBF beta/PEBP2 beta and a myosin heavy chain in acute myeloid leukemia." Science 261(5124): 1041-1044.

Longworth, M. S. and L. A. Laimins (2006). "Histone deacetylase 3 localizes to the plasma membrane and is a substrate of Src." Oncogene 25(32): 4495-4500.

Luger, K., A. W. Mader, et al. (1997). "Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution." Nature 389(6648): 251-260.

Luthy, R., J. U. Bowie and D. Eisenberg (1992). "Assessment of protein models with threedimensional profiles." Nature 356(6364): 83-85.

Marks, P. A. and M. Dokmanovic (2005). "Histone deacetylase inhibitors: discovery and development as anticancer agents." Expert Opin Investig Drugs 14(12): 1497-1511.

Momparler, R. L., S. Cote, et al. (2014). "Epigenetic therapy of acute myeloid leukemia using 5aza-2'-deoxycytidine (decitabine) in combination with inhibitors of histone methylation and deacetylation." Clin Epigenetics 6(1): 19.

Nakagawa, M., Y. Oda, et al. (2007). "Expression profile of class I histone deacetylases in human cancer tissues." Oncol Rep 18(4): 769-774.

Nakagawa, M., Y. Oda, T. Eguchi, S. Aishima, T. Yao, F. Hosoi, Y. Basaki, M. Ono, M. Kuwano, M. Tanaka and M. Tsuneyoshi (2007). "Expression profile of class I histone deacetylases in human cancer tissues." Oncol Rep 18(4): 769-774.

Oehme, I., H. E. Deubzer, et al. (2009). "Histone deacetylase 8 in neuroblastoma tumorigenesis." Clin Cancer Res 15(1): 91-99.

Olson, D. E., F. F. Wagner, et al. (2013). "Discovery of the first histone deacetylase 6/8 dual inhibitors." J Med Chem 56(11): 4816-4820.

Olson, D. E., N. D. Udeshi, N. A. Wolfson, C. A. Pitcairn, E. D. Sullivan, J. D. Jaffe, T. Svinkina, T. Natoli, X. Lu, J. Paulk, P. McCarren, F. F. Wagner, D. Barker, E. Howe, F. Lazzaro, J. P. Gale, Y. L. Zhang, A. Subramanian, C. A. Fierke, S. A. Carr and E. B. Holson (2014). "An unbiased approach to identify endogenous substrates of "histone" deacetylase 8." ACS Chem Biol 9(10): 2210-2216.

Palazzo, A., B. Ackerman and G. G. Gundersen (2003). "Cell biology: Tubulin acetylation and cell motility." Nature 421(6920): 230.

Park, S. Y., J. A. Jun, et al. (2011). "Histone deacetylases 1, 6 and 8 are critical for invasion in breast cancer." Oncol Rep 25(6): 1677-1681.

Pierce, B. G., K. Wiehe, H. Hwang, B. H. Kim, T. Vreven and Z. Weng (2014). "ZDOCK server: interactive docking prediction of protein-protein complexes and symmetric multimers." Bioinformatics 30(12): 1771-1773.

Polo, S. E. and G. Almouzni (2005). "Histone metabolic pathways and chromatin assembly factors as proliferation markers." Cancer Lett 220(1): 1-9.

Potzner, M. R., K. Tsarovina, et al. (2010). "Sequential requirement of Sox4 and Sox11 during development of the sympathetic nervous system." Development 137(5): 775-784.

Prota, A. E., K. Bargsten, D. Zurwerra, J. J. Field, J. F. Diaz, K. H. Altmann and M. O. Steinmetz (2013). "Molecular mechanism of action of microtubule-stabilizing anticancer agents." Science 339(6119): 587-590.
Ramachandran, G. N., C. Ramakrishnan and V. Sasisekharan (1963). "Stereochemistry of polypeptide chain configurations." J Mol Biol 7: 95-99.

Ramachandran, G. N., C. Ramakrishnan and V. Sasisekharan (1963). "Stereochemistry of polypeptide chain configurations." J Mol Biol 7: 95-99.

Ramakrishnan, N. A., M. J. Drescher, S. A. Sheikhali, K. M. Khan, J. S. Hatfield, M. J. Dickson and D. G. Drescher (2006). "Molecular identification of an N-type Ca2+ channel in saccular hair cells." Neuroscience 139(4): 1417-1434.

Richman, R., L. G. Chicoine, et al. (1988). "Micronuclei and the cytoplasm of growing Tetrahymena contain a histone acetylase activity which is highly specific for free histone H4." J Cell Biol 106(4): 1017-1026.

Riester, D., C. Hildmann, S. Grunewald, T. Beckers and A. Schwienhorst (2007). "Factors affecting the substrate specificity of histone deacetylases." Biochem Biophys Res Commun 357(2): 439-445.

Ropero, S. and M. Esteller (2007). "The role of histone deacetylases (HDACs) in human cancer." Mol Oncol 1(1): 19-25.

Rossetto, D., N. Avvakumov, et al. (2012). "Histone phosphorylation: a chromatin modification involved in diverse nuclear events." Epigenetics 7(10): 1098-1108.

Rountree, M. R., K. E. Bachman, et al. (2001). "DNA methylation, chromatin inheritance, and cancer." Oncogene 20(24): 3156-3165.

Sadoul, K. and S. Khochbin (2016). "The growing landscape of tubulin acetylation: lysine 40 and many more." Biochem J 473(13): 1859-1868.

Schilham, M. W., M. A. Oosterwegel, et al. (1996). "Defects in cardiac outflow tract formation and pro-B-lymphocyte expansion in mice lacking Sox-4." Nature 380(6576): 711-714.

Schuck, P. (1997). "Use of surface plasmon resonance to probe the equilibrium and dynamic aspects of interactions between biological macromolecules." Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct 26: 541-566.

Schultz, B. E., S. Misialek, J. Wu, J. Tang, M. T. Conn, R. Tahilramani and L. Wong (2004). "Kinetics and comparative reactivity of human class I and class IIb histone deacetylases." Biochemistry 43(34): 11083-11091.

Seidel, C., M. Schnekenburger, A. Mazumder, M. H. Teiten, G. Kirsch, M. Dicato and M. Diederich (2016). "4-Hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives as HDAC6-specific inhibitors modulating

microtubular structure and HSP90alpha chaperone activity against prostate cancer." Biochem Pharmacol 99: 31-52.

Sengupta, N. and E. Seto (2004). "Regulation of histone deacetylase activities." J Cell Biochem 93(1): 57-67.

Sievers, F., A. Wilm, D. Dineen, T. J. Gibson, K. Karplus, W. Li, R. Lopez, H. McWilliam, M. Remmert, J. Soding, J. D. Thompson and D. G. Higgins (2011). "Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega." Mol Syst Biol 7: 539.

Smith, B. C. and J. M. Denu (2007). "Acetyl-lysine analog peptides as mechanistic probes of protein deacetylases." J Biol Chem 282(51): 37256-37265.

Smith, B. C. and J. M. Denu (2007). "Acetyl-lysine analog peptides as mechanistic probes of protein deacetylases." J Biol Chem 282(51): 37256-37265.

Song, J., J. H. Noh, et al. (2005). "Increased expression of histone deacetylase 2 is found in human gastric cancer." APMIS 113(4): 264-268.

Strahl, B. D. and C. D. Allis (2000). "The language of covalent histone modifications." Nature 403(6765): 41-45.

Sun, J. M., H. Y. Chen and J. R. Davie (2007). "Differential distribution of unmodified and phosphorylated histone deacetylase 2 in chromatin." J Biol Chem 282(45): 33227-33236.

Sun, W. J., X. Zhou, et al. (2012). "Histone acetyltransferases and deacetylases: molecular and clinical implications to gastrointestinal carcinogenesis." Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai) 44(1): 80-91.

Suzuki, T., N. Muto, et al. (2014). "Design, synthesis, and biological activity of NCC149 derivatives as histone deacetylase 8-selective inhibitors." ChemMedChem 9(3): 657-664.

Tanaka, T., J. Fuchs, J. Loidl and K. Nasmyth (2000). "Cohesin ensures bipolar attachment of microtubules to sister centromeres and resists their precocious separation." Nat Cell Biol 2(8): 492-499.

Tang, J., H. Yan, et al. (2013). "Histone deacetylases as targets for treatment of multiple diseases." Clin Sci (Lond) 124(11): 651-662.

Tang, W., T. Luo, et al. (2011). "Discovery of histone deacetylase 8 selective inhibitors." Bioorg Med Chem Lett 21(9): 2601-2605.

Teif, V. B. and K. Rippe (2009). "Predicting nucleosome positions on the DNA: combining intrinsic sequence preferences and remodeler activities." Nucleic Acids Res 37(17): 5641-5655.

Tessarz, P. and T. Kouzarides (2014). "Histone core modifications regulating nucleosome structure and dynamics." Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15(11): 703-708.

Torrano, V., J. Navascues, F. Docquier, R. Zhang, L. J. Burke, I. Chernukhin, D. Farrar, J. Leon, M. T. Berciano, R. Renkawitz, E. Klenova, M. Lafarga and M. D. Delgado (2006). "Targeting of CTCF to the nucleolus inhibits nucleolar transcription through a poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation-dependent mechanism." J Cell Sci 119(Pt 9): 1746-1759.

Tsai, S. C. and E. Seto (2002). "Regulation of histone deacetylase 2 by protein kinase CK2." J Biol Chem 277(35): 31826-31833.

Uhlen, M., E. Bjorling, C. Agaton, C. A. Szigyarto, B. Amini, E. Andersen, A. C. Andersson, P. Angelidou, A. Asplund, C. Asplund, L. Berglund, K. Bergstrom, H. Brumer, D. Cerjan, M. Ekstrom, A. Elobeid, C. Eriksson, L. Fagerberg, R. Falk, J. Fall, M. Forsberg, M. G. Bjorklund, K. Gumbel, A. Halimi, I. Hallin, C. Hamsten, M. Hansson, M. Hedhammar, G. Hercules, C. Kampf, K. Larsson, M. Lindskog, W. Lodewyckx, J. Lund, J. Lundeberg, K. Magnusson, E. Malm, P. Nilsson, J. Odling, P. Oksvold, I. Olsson, E. Oster, J. Ottosson, L. Paavilainen, A. Persson, R. Rimini, J. Rockberg, M. Runeson, A. Sivertsson, A. Skollermo, J. Steen, M. Stenvall, F. Sterky, S. Stromberg, M. Sundberg, H. Tegel, S. Tourle, E. Wahlund, A. Walden, J. Wan, H. Wernerus, J. Westberg, K. Wester, U. Wrethagen, L. L. Xu, S. Hober and F. Ponten (2005). "A human protein atlas for normal and cancer tissues based on antibody proteomics." Mol Cell Proteomics 4(12): 1920-1932.

Valente, S. and A. Mai (2014). "Small-molecule inhibitors of histone deacetylase for the treatment of cancer and non-cancer diseases: a patent review (2011 - 2013)." Expert Opin Ther Pat 24(4): 401-415.

Van den Wyngaert, I., W. de Vries, A. Kremer, J. Neefs, P. Verhasselt, W. H. Luyten and S. U. Kass (2000). "Cloning and characterization of human histone deacetylase 8." FEBS Lett 478(1-2): 77-83.

VanderMolen, K. M., W. McCulloch, et al. (2011). "Romidepsin (Istodax, NSC 630176, FR901228, FK228, depsipeptide): a natural product recently approved for cutaneous T-cell lymphoma." J Antibiot (Tokyo) 64(8): 525-531.

Vannini, A., C. Volpari, et al. (2004). "Crystal structure of a eukaryotic zinc-dependent histone deacetylase, human HDAC8, complexed with a hydroxamic acid inhibitor." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(42): 15064-15069.

Vaziri, H., S. K. Dessain, et al. (2001). "hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase." Cell 107(2): 149-159.

Venkatesh, S. and J. L. Workman (2015). "Histone exchange, chromatin structure and the regulation of transcription." Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 16(3): 178-189.

Vicente-Manzanares, M., X. Ma, R. S. Adelstein and A. R. Horwitz (2009). "Non-muscle myosin II takes centre stage in cell adhesion and migration." Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10(11): 778-790.

Vreven, T., B. G. Pierce, H. Hwang and Z. Weng (2013). "Performance of ZDOCK in CAPRI rounds 20-26." Proteins 81(12): 2175-2182.

Waltregny, D., L. De Leval, W. Glenisson, S. Ly Tran, B. J. North, A. Bellahcene, U. Weidle, E. Verdin and V. Castronovo (2004). "Expression of histone deacetylase 8, a class I histone deacetylase, is restricted to cells showing smooth muscle differentiation in normal human tissues." Am J Pathol 165(2): 553-564.

Waltregny, D., W. Glenisson, S. L. Tran, B. J. North, E. Verdin, A. Colige and V. Castronovo (2005). "Histone deacetylase HDAC8 associates with smooth muscle alpha-actin and is essential for smooth muscle cell contractility." FASEB J 19(8): 966-968.

Wang, C., L. Chen, et al. (2006). "Interactions between E2F1 and SirT1 regulate apoptotic response to DNA damage." Nat Cell Biol 8(9): 1025-1031.

Wang, G. G., C. D. Allis, et al. (2007). "Chromatin remodeling and cancer, Part I: Covalent histone modifications." Trends Mol Med 13(9): 363-372.

Wang, G. G., C. D. Allis, et al. (2007). "Chromatin remodeling and cancer, Part II: ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling." Trends Mol Med 13(9): 373-380.

Weinhold, B. (2006). "Epigenetics: the science of change." Environ Health Perspect 114(3): A160-167.

Weinhold, B. (2006). "Epigenetics: the science of change." Environ Health Perspect 114(3): A160-167.

West, A. C. and R. W. Johnstone (2014). "New and emerging HDAC inhibitors for cancer treatment." J Clin Invest 124(1): 30-39.

Wiehe, K., B. Pierce, J. Mintseris, W. W. Tong, R. Anderson, R. Chen and Z. Weng (2005). "ZDOCK and RDOCK performance in CAPRI rounds 3, 4, and 5." Proteins 60(2): 207-213.

Wiehe, K., B. Pierce, W. W. Tong, H. Hwang, J. Mintseris and Z. Weng (2007). "The performance of ZDOCK and ZRANK in rounds 6-11 of CAPRI." Proteins 69(4): 719-725.

Williams, R. C., Jr., C. Shah and D. Sackett (1999). "Separation of tubulin isoforms by isoelectric focusing in immobilized pH gradient gels." Anal Biochem 275(2): 265-267.

Wilson, A. J., D. S. Byun, et al. (2006). "Histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3) and other class I HDACs regulate colon cell maturation and p21 expression and are deregulated in human colon cancer." J Biol Chem 281(19): 13548-13558.

Wong, R. W. and G. Blobel (2008). "Cohesin subunit SMC1 associates with mitotic microtubules at the spindle pole." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(40): 15441-15445.

Wu, J., C. Du, et al. (2013). "The up-regulation of histone deacetylase 8 promotes proliferation and inhibits apoptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma." Dig Dis Sci 58(12): 3545-3553.

Xiao, K., Y. P. Li, et al. (2015). "Disulfide cross-linked micelles of novel HDAC inhibitor thailandepsin A for the treatment of breast cancer." Biomaterials 67: 183-193.

Yamauchi, Y., H. Boukari, et al. (2011). "Histone deacetylase 8 is required for centrosome cohesion and influenza A virus entry." PLoS Pathog 7(10): e1002316.

Yamauchi, Y., H. Boukari, I. Banerjee, I. F. Sbalzarini, P. Horvath and A. Helenius (2011). "Histone deacetylase 8 is required for centrosome cohesion and influenza A virus entry." PLoS Pathog 7(10): e1002316.

Yang, J., R. Yan, A. Roy, D. Xu, J. Poisson and Y. Zhang (2015). "The I-TASSER Suite: protein structure and function prediction." Nat Methods 12(1): 7-8.

Yang, X. J. and E. Seto (2003). "Collaborative spirit of histone deacetylases in regulating chromatin structure and gene expression." Curr Opin Genet Dev 13(2): 143-153.

Yang, X. J. and E. Seto (2008). "The Rpd3/Hda1 family of lysine deacetylases: from bacteria and yeast to mice and men." Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 9(3): 206-218.

Ying, M., F. Huang, H. Ye, H. Xu, L. Shen, T. Huan, S. Huang, J. Xie, S. Tian, Z. Hu, Z. He, J. Lu and K. Zhou (2015). "Study on interaction between curcumin and pepsin by spectroscopic and docking methods." Int J Biol Macromol 79: 201-208.

Zhang, Y. and J. Skolnick (2004). "Scoring function for automated assessment of protein structure template quality." Proteins 57(4): 702-710.

Zhang, Z., H. Yamashita, et al. (2004). "HDAC6 expression is correlated with better survival in breast cancer." Clin Cancer Res 10(20): 6962-6968.

Zhang, Z., H. Yamashita, et al. (2005). "Quantitation of HDAC1 mRNA expression in invasive carcinoma of the breast\*." Breast Cancer Res Treat 94(1): 11-16.

Zhao, S., W. Xu, et al. (2010). "Regulation of cellular metabolism by protein lysine acetylation." Science 327(5968): 1000-1004.

Zhu, P., E. Martin, et al. (2004). "Induction of HDAC2 expression upon loss of APC in colorectal tumorigenesis." Cancer Cell 5(5): 455-463.

Zibelman, M., Y. N. Wong, et al. (2015). "Phase I study of the mTOR inhibitor ridaforolimus and the HDAC inhibitor vorinostat in advanced renal cell carcinoma and other solid tumors." Invest New Drugs 33(5): 1040-1047.





# **ARTICLE IN PRESS**

Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine xxx (2017) 1-9

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Ayurveda and Integrative Medicine

journal homepage: http://elsevier.com/locate/jaim



# Anti-inflammatory profile of *Aegle marmelos* (L) Correa (Bilva) with special reference to young roots grown in different parts of India

Azad Rajaram <sup>a</sup>, G.R. Vanaja <sup>a</sup>, Preeti Vyakaranam <sup>a</sup>, Aparna Rachamallu <sup>a</sup>, Gorla V. Reddy <sup>a</sup>, Kotha Anilkumar <sup>a</sup>, Kalle M. Arunasree <sup>a</sup>, Anurag Dhyani <sup>b</sup>, Narapureddy Krishna Prasad <sup>b</sup>, Sakshee Sharma <sup>b</sup>, Mahesh Chandra Joshi <sup>b</sup>, Gaya Prasad Kimothi <sup>b</sup>, N.B. Brindavanam <sup>b</sup>, Pallu Reddanna <sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Animal Biology, University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad 500046, India <sup>b</sup> Dabur Research & Development Centre, 22, Site-IV, Sahibabad, Ghaziabad 201010, India

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 November 2016 Received in revised form 27 February 2017 Accepted 24 March 2017 Available online xxx

Keywords: Aegle marmelos Inflammation Ayurveda Cyclooxygenase-1 & 2 5-Lipoxygenase Immunomodulation

### ABSTRACT

*Introduction: Aegle marmelos* (Bilva) is being used in Ayurveda the Indian systems of medicine for the treatment of several inflammatory disorders. The plant is a member of a fixed dose combination of Dashamoola in Ayurveda. However, the usage of roots/root bark or stems is associated with sustainability concerns.

*Aim of the study:* The present study is aimed to compare the anti-inflammatory properties of different extracts of young roots (year wise) and mature parts of Bilva plants collected from different geographical locations in India, so as to identify a sustainable source for Ayurvedic formulation.

*Materials and methods:* A total of 191 extracts (petroleum ether, ethyl acetate, ethanol and aqueous) of roots, stems and leaves of *A. marmelos* (collected from Gujarat, Maharashtra, Odisha, Chhattisgarh, Karnataka and Andhra Pradesh region)were tested for anti-inflammatory effects *in vitro* on isolated target enzymes cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and 5-lipoxygenase (5-LOX), lymphocyte proliferation assay (LPA), cytokine profiling in LPS induced mouse macrophage (RAW 264.7) cell line and *in vivo* carrageenan induced paw edema in mice.

*Results:* Of 191 extracts, 44 extracts showed COX-2 inhibition and 38 extracts showed COX-1 inhibition, while none showed 5-LOX inhibition. Cytokine analysis of the 44 extracts showing inhibition of COX-2 suggested that only 17 extracts modulated the cytokines by increasing the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-2 and reducing the pro-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1 $\beta$ , MIP1- $\alpha$  and IL-6. The young (2 and 3 years) roots from Gujarat and young (1 yr) roots from Odisha of Bilva plants showed the most potent anti-inflammatory activity by suppressing the pro-inflammatory cytokines and inducing anti-inflammatory cytokine. These three extracts have also shown *in vivo* anti-inflammatory activity which were comparable to those in adult stem and root barks.

*Conclusion:* The present study reveals that young roots of Bilva plants from Gujarat and Odisha region could form a sustainable source for use in the Ayurvedic formulations with anti-inflammatory activities. The present study also indicates that the region in which the plants are grown and the age of the plants play an important role in exhibiting the anti-inflammatory effect.

© 2017 Transdisciplinary University, Bangalore and World Ayurveda Foundation. Publishing Services by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

### 1. Introduction

Abbreviations: LPS, lipopolysaccharides; Con A, Concanavalin A; PE, petroleum ether; EA, ethyl acetate; ET, ethanol; AQ, aqueous.

\* Corresponding author. Department of Animal Biology, School of Life Sciences, University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad 500046, India. Fax: +91 40 23010120. *E-mail addresses*: preddanna@gmail.com, prsl@uohyd.ernet.in (P. Reddanna).

Peer review under responsibility of Transdisciplinary University. Bangalore.

Aegle marmelos (L.) Correa is a member of Dashamoola (10 root drugs) group. This combination is widely used in generic Ayurvedic formulations such as *Daśamūlarishta*, *DaśamūlaKaśāya*, and *DaśamūlakațutrayādiKvātham*. The plant grows wild in dry forest in outer Himalayas and Shivaliks. Bilva is a medium to large sized

### http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaim.2017.03.006

0975-9476/© 2017 Transdisciplinary University, Bangalore and World Ayurveda Foundation. Publishing Services by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Please cite this article in press as: Rajaram A, et al., Anti-inflammatory profile of *Aegle marmelos* (L) Correa (Bilva) with special reference to young roots grown in different parts of India, J Ayurveda Integr Med (2017), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaim.2017.03.006

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



**Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters** 



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/bmcl

# Thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-one based novel small molecules: Their synthesis, crystal structure analysis and in vitro evaluation as potential anticancer agents

Ali Nakhi<sup>a</sup>, Raju Adepu<sup>a</sup>, D. Rambabu<sup>a</sup>, Ravada Kishore<sup>b</sup>, G.R. Vanaja<sup>c</sup>, Arunasree M. Kalle<sup>c</sup>, Manojit Pal<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Institute of Life Sciences, University of Hyderabad Campus, Gachibowli, Hyderabad 500 046, AP, India

<sup>b</sup> School of Chemistry, University of Hyderabad, Gachibowli, Hyderabad 500 046, AP, India

<sup>c</sup> Department of Animal Sciences, School of Life Sciences, University of Hyderabad, Gachibowli, Hyderabad 500 046, AP, India

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 March 2012 Revised 31 March 2012 Accepted 24 April 2012 Available online 2 May 2012

Keywords: Thienopyranone Alkynylation Iodocyclization Sonogashira Heck Suzuki

### ABSTRACT

Novel thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-one based small molecules were designed as potential anticancer agents. Expeditious synthesis of these compounds was carried out via a multi-step sequence consisting of few steps such as Gewald reaction, Sandmeyer type iodination, Sonogashira type coupling followed by iodo-cyclization and then Pd-mediated various C–C bond forming reactions. The overall strategy involved the construction of thiophene ring followed by the fused pyranone moiety and then functionalization at C-7 position of the resultant thieno[3,2-*c*]pyran-4-one framework. Some of the compounds synthesized showed selective growth inhibition of cancer cells in vitro among which two compounds for example, **5d** and **6c** showed IC<sub>50</sub> values in the range of 2.0–2.5  $\mu$ M. The crystal structure analysis of an active compound along with hydrogen bonding patterns and molecular arrangement present within the molecule is described.

© 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

With more than 10 million new cases every year, cancer has become one of the most devastating diseases worldwide. According to WHO, in the year 2000, 5.3 million men and 4.7 million women developed a malignant tumor and 6.2 million died from the disease. The number of new cases is expected to grow by 50% over the next 20 years to reach 15 million by 2020. Among various types of cancers hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) has emerged as the fifth most common cancer worldwide.<sup>1</sup> The chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), a slowly progressing cancerous disease of blood and bone marrow usually occurs in the middle aged adults,<sup>2</sup> is the leading cause of leukemia mortality. It is therefore necessary to identify new and more effective anticancer agents for the potential treatment of HCC and CML. All these reasons and our continued interest in the identification of novel anticancer agents<sup>3</sup> prompted us to design novel scaffold based on a known anticancer agent that is, 8,9-dihydroxy-6*H*-benzofuro[3,2-c]chromen-6-one<sup>4</sup> or **A3** ( Fig. 1). While the compound A3 possess flexible structural features its structural modification for the identification of new anticancer agent has not been explored earlier. The structures **D** of target molecules were arrived via **B** by (i) replacing the furan moiety of **A3** by a thiophene ring and (ii) incising the benzene ring fused with the pyranone moiety. The substituents R<sup>1</sup> and R<sup>2</sup> were chosen to introduce diversity into the basic structure of **D**. Our design was essentially based on the fact that the central thienopyranone core of **D** would mimic an isocoumarin<sup>5</sup> moiety that is known to be integral part of several pharmacologically active agents and drugs including a clinical candidate NM-3<sup>6</sup> (**C**, Fig. 1).

While, thiophene moiety is common in many bioactive agents and drugs<sup>7</sup> as a class of compounds thienopyranones however are rather unusual. Only a few number of thieno[2,3-c]pyran-4ones were synthesized and evaluated for their antileishmanial and antifungal activities.<sup>8</sup> In 2006, we reported regioselective synthesis of various mono and disubstituted thieno[2,3-c]pyran-7-one, and thieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-ones some of which showed anticancer properties in vitro.<sup>9</sup> In further continuation of this work we undertook the synthesis of thieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-one based target molecules represented by **D** (or **6**, Scheme 1). To the best of our knowledge, most of these compounds were unknown in



**Figure 1.** Design of thieno[3,2-c] pyran-4-one based novel and potential anticancer agents (**D**) from a known coumestan derivative **A3** and a isocoumarin derivative NM-3 (**C**).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +91 40 6657 1500; fax: +91 40 6657 1581. *E-mail address:* manojitpal@rediffmail.com (M. Pal).

<sup>0960-894</sup>X/\$ - see front matter © 2012 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2012.04.109

## Appendix

## **Funding Acknowledgements**

**UGC-RGNF** is highly acknowledged for supporting me with (JRF & SRF) fellowship for my tenure 2012-2017

**CSIR, ICMR, DBT-IYBA, DBT-BCIL, UPE, DST-SERB** (lab funding) are highly acknowledged for supporting my work

# Conferences/Workshop/Symposiums

- Poster presentation: Presented part of Ph.D work as a poster with title "A novel non-histone protein substrate for hHDAC8 is Alpha tubulin" at 85<sup>th</sup> Annual meeting of society of biological chemists (India), held at CFTRI-Mysuru, India on 21-24<sup>th</sup> Nov, 2016 – Best Poster Award.
- Poster presentation: Bioquest 2016, Oct 20-21, conducted at School of Life sciences, University of Hyderabad, India. – Best Poster Award.
- GIAN (Global Initiative of Academic Networks) -Workshop on Lipid Signalling in Health and Disease in Plant and Animals Dec 05-15 2016.
- GIAN (Global Initiative of Academic Networks) -Workshop on Immunologicals in Animal and Human Health. July 04-16 2016
- 5. Poster presentation: Bioquest 2015 held on 23-24<sup>th</sup> Sep, 2015 at University of Hyderabad.
- Attended Hands on training and workshop on basic flow cytometry, held during 1<sup>st</sup> & 2<sup>nd</sup> Dec, 2014, at University of Hyderabad, India.
- International Conference on Genome Architecture and Cell Fate Regulation, held from 1st 4 th December, 2014, at University of Hyderabad, India.
- 82nd Annual Meeting of the Society of Biological Chemists (India) and International Conference on "Genomes: Mechanism and Function" held from 2nd - 5 th December, 2013 at School of LifeSciences, University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad, India.
- Poster presentation: UOH-AS joint workshop on Frontiers in Biological Sciences, held on April 8-9 2013, at University of Hyderabad, India.
- 10. 16<sup>th</sup> ADNAT convention conference on animal Genetics and Genomics organized by National Institute of Animal Biotechnology, held on 16<sup>th</sup>-19<sup>th</sup> December 2012.
- Indo-German Symposium on System Biology organized during Nov. 27-29 2012 at University of Hyderabad, Hyderabad, India.
- Poster Presentation- XXXII All India Cell Biology Conference & International Workshop on Cell Cycle Regulation-2009. Title: "Lysine-specific demethylase 1: Recombinant bacterial expression and activity".

# **Publications**

- Krishna IV, Vanaja G R, Kumar NS, Suman G. Cytotoxic studies of anti-neoplastic drugs on human lymphocytes-- in vitro studies. Cancer Biomark. 2009;5(6):261-72. PubMed PMID: 20037202.
- Ellanki AR, Islam A, Rama VS, Pulipati RP, Rambabu D, Krishna GR, Reddy CM, Mukkanti K, Vanaja G R, Kalle AM, Kumar KS, Pal M. Solvent effect on copper-catalyzed azide-alkyne cycloaddition (CuAAC): synthesis of novel triazolyl substituted quinolines as potential anticancer agents. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2012 May 15;22(10):3455-9. Epub 2012 Mar 30. PubMed PMID: 22516283.
- Shafi S, Alam MM, Mulakayala N, Mulakayala C, Vanaja G R, Kalle AM, Pallu R, Alam MS. Synthesis of novel 2-mercapto benzothiazole and 1,2,3-triazole basedbis-heterocycles: their antiinflammatory and anti-nociceptive activities. Eur J Med Chem. 2012 Mar;49:324-33. Epub 2012 Jan 24. PubMed PMID: 22305614.
- Nakhi A, Adepu R, Rambabu D, Kishore R, Vanaja G R, Kalle AM, Pal M.Thieno[3,2-c]pyran-4-one based novel small molecules: Their synthesis, crystal structure analysis and in vitro evaluation as potential anticancer agents. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2012 Jul 1;22(13):4418-27. Epub 2012 May 2. PubMed PMID: 22632935.
- Shiva Kumar K, Rambabu D, Prasad B, Mujahid M, Krishna GR, Basaveswara Rao MV,Malla Reddy C, Vanaja G R, Kalle AM, Pal M. A new approach to construct a fused 2-ylidene chromene ring: highly regioselective synthesis of novel chromenoquinoxalines. Org Biomol Chem. 2012 Jun 28;10(24):4774-81. Epub 2012 May 16.PubMed PMID: 22588576.
- 6. Gulipalli KC<sup>1</sup>, Bodige S<sup>1</sup>, Ravula P<sup>2</sup>, Endoori S<sup>1</sup>, **Vanaja G R<sup>3</sup>**, Suresh Babu G<sup>3</sup>, Narendra Sharath Chandra JN<sup>4</sup>, Seelam N<sup>5</sup>. Design, synthesis, in silico and in of vitro evaluation thiophene derivatives: A potent tyrosinephosphatase 1B inhibitor and anticancer activity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett.o 2017 Aug 1; 27(15):3558-3564. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2017.05.047. Epub 2017 May 24.
- 7. Rajaram Azad<sup>a</sup>, Vanaja G. R.<sup>a</sup>, Preeti Vyakaranam<sup>a</sup>, Aparna Rachamallu<sup>a</sup>, Gorla V. Reddy<sup>a</sup>, Kotha Anilkumar<sup>a</sup>, Kalle M Arunasree<sup>a</sup>, Anurag Dhyani<sup>b</sup>, Narapureddy Krishna Prasad<sup>b</sup>, Sakshee Sharma<sup>b</sup>, Mahesh Chandra Joshi<sup>b</sup>, Gaya Prasad Kimothi<sup>b</sup>, N. B. Brindavanam<sup>b</sup> & Pallu Reddanna<sup>a</sup>\*. Anti-inflammatory profile of Aegle marmelos (L) Correa (Bilva) with special reference to young roots grown in different parts of India. Accepted on 24 Mar' 2017. Epub Ahead.

Identification and characterization of Alpha tubulin as a nonhistone protein substrate/binding partner of hHDAC8 in HeLa cells.

ORIGINALITY REPORT						
SIMILA	0% ARITY INDEX	6%	9% PUBLICATIONS	2% STUDENT	PAPERS	
PRIMAR	RY SOURCES					
1"HDAC8 substrates: Histones and beyond", Biopolymers, 2013. Publication1 %						
2	2 Chakrabarti, Alokta, Ina Oehme, Olaf Witt, Guilherme Oliveira, Wolfgang Sippl, Christophe Romier, Raymond J. Pierce, and Manfred Jung. "HDAC8: a multifaceted target for therapeutic interventions", Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 2015. Publication <a href="https://www.communications.com">therapeutic</a>					
3	www.nature.com Internet Source			<1%		
4	www.bioi	nformation.net			<1%	
5	abbs.oxfordjournals.org				<1%	
6	discovery	v.ucl.ac.uk			<1%	